

CAISR

Center for Applied Intelligent System Research

Annual Report 2022





The cover shows 40 of CAISR'S more than 70 employees. You will meet them all in the report.

CAISR

Center for Applied Intelligent Systems Research

Annual Report 2022

Knowledge Foundation





CAISR ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3

Table of contents

Director's statement	5
40 years of AI research	6
Bertil Svensson - a pioneer	8
The CAISR Environment	10
Industrial Advisory Boards	11
Predictive Maintenance	12
Computer Vision	20
IT Forensics	24
The MAISTR program	25
and Eliza	25
Outreach	26
Funding and publishing	27
Albert Bifet - Visiting professor with an interest in streaming data	28
Amira Soliman - Motivated by being involved from research to the clinic	29
Prayag Tiwari - From a village without electricity to quantum computing	30
Rebeen Ali Hamad - Towards Reliable, Stable and Fast Learning for Smart Home Activity Recognition	31
Zahra Taghiyarrena - Learning from Multiple Domains	32
Kunru Chen - Learning Representations for Machine Activity Recognition	33
PhD Graduation Awais Ashfaq	34
PhD Graduation Ece Calikus	36
PhD Graduation Shiraz Farouq	38
PhD Graduation Pablo Del Moral	40
Staff	42
CAISR Publications 2018-2022	49



Director's statement

The year 2022 will for sure be mentioned in future history sities started, first focusing on how to prevent cheating but books. In February Russia invaded Ukraine in a "special millater also on how ChatGPT could be used as a tool. In earitary operation", an operation that perhaps Russia expected ly 2023, the discussion was all over society, with arguments to be quick but which turned out to be anything but that. At for banning LLMs, pausing their development, or calling for the end of 2022, about a quarter of Ukraine's population had legislation that limited their use. With ChatGPT, the "AI gebeen forced to leave their homes, but the Ukrainian defense nie" had been let out of the bottle. had proven strong and the war was not going Russia's way. It In 2022, IT-forensics was the education program at Halmis impossible to guess where this will end but we hope that stad University that received the most applicants (out of all it will turn out to have been a really bad idea to invade a programs at the university). Several CAISR members teach non-hostile neighboring country. Provoked by this invasion, in this program and the students who graduate get very good Sweden changed its long-standing foreign policy doctrine jobs with, e.g., the Swedish police. It was truly a pleasure to of being a neutral country and applied for membership in see so many applicants to an engineering-oriented program NATO. with a strong relation to AI technology.

In September, the death of Mahsa Ahmini in Tehran, suspected to be due to police brutality for not wearing a hijab properly, started a wave of protests in Iran and worldwide. Iranian women all over the world reacted and demonstrated their dislike for this. The protests continued well beyond 2022 and perhaps we can look back at this later as the spark that started the fire that led to more equal rights for women in Iran.

In November, ChatGPT was introduced by OpenAI, and it is no understatement to say it took the world by storm. People outside the AI community were shocked over how good ChatGPT was; it could code (which its GPT predecessors could also do), write poetry, write music, write manuscripts, be funny, answer test questions, translate text, summarize notes, and so on. Also people within the AI community were surprised by the quick development and uptake of Large Language Models (LLMs). An intense discussion at univerAlso in 2022, Prayag Tiwari started an assistant professorship position with CAISR and shortly after he started in Halmstad he got listed on Professor John Ioannidis' list of "the world's top 2% researchers" (based on subject-normalized citation statistics). Prayag is the sixth CAISR member to make it onto that list but by far the youngest, and the only one who is not a professor (yet). We welcome him to CAISR and present him better in an interview later in this report.

Finally, Halmstad University celebrates 40 years in 2023. We start our annual report with two articles that provide a historical perspective on AI research at Halmstad University, to commemorate the anniversary.

Thorsteinn Rögnvaldsson

In 1981 IBM introduced the PC, and in 1983 Apple released LISA. The early 1980-ies mark the beginning of the digital revolution that over the last 40 years has brought immensely increased communication, the world wide web, smartphones, streaming services, and artificial intelligence (Al). Halmstad University was established in 1983, and its research developed alongside this digital revolution. To celebrate Halmstad University's 40-year anniversary in 2023, we provide two texts in this annual report that look at the development up to this day and illustrate why and how Halmstad University developed a large research group with focus on Al.



The two first research centers established at Halmstad University built on what one would today could call AI and AI enabling technologies: image analysis and embedded parallel computer architectures, respectively. In those days, the research centers included only a handful of people. In the late 1980-ies the REMAP research project started with the ambition to design high speed massively parallel computers for radar signal processing with very low energy consumption. The REMAP project was co-sponsored by the Swedish defense industry and took much inspiration from research on artificial neural network hardware. A strong supporter in Halm-

stad University's early days was Professor Dan Hammerstrom, then at Intel in Oregon, later at Oregon Graduate Institute, Portland State University, and DARPA.

In the 1990-ies, the two research centers started recruiting PhD students and several international AI researchers; from Kaunas Institute of Technology, ETH, EPFL, and the Oregon Graduate Institute. For example: For example: Antanas Verikas from Kaunas TU, Albert-Jan Baerveldt, winner of the first world championship for ping pong playing robots in Hong-Kong in 1992, and Josef Bigun, a world authority on



Anders Åblander showing the REMAP computer that was a part of his PhD exam work at Halmstad University, Anders is currently Specialist, High Speed SW Architecture at Saab AB, Business Area Surveillance.



In 2023 Halmstad University celebrates 40 years as an independent university. AI, Artificial Intelligence has been a significant part of the university's research throughout the years.

visual biometrics. Many research projects started during this period built on machine learning and close industrial cooperation, e.g., the self-calibrating engine, the autonomous agricultural robot, and neural networks for print quality estimation (a solution that was later commercialized and sold, e.g., to the Bank of England).

In 2000, Professor Josef Bigun became IAPR Fellow, and then in 2003 IEEE Fellow. In 2001 Halmstad In 2003 the Swedish Research Council started awarding project grants to the biometrics group in Halmstad, something they have continued to do, and in 2004 Halmstad University was named a European Excellence Center in Image Processing through the Biosecure project. In 2005, Halmstad University was granted the first in a continuous series (up to today) of Vinnova-funded projects focusing on machine learning for predictive maintenance together with the Volvo companies.

Around 2010, several new important international recruitments were done of young researchers: Fernando Alonso-Fernandez (Universidad Autónoma de Madrid), Sławomir Nowaczyk (AGH University of Technology in Poland), Roland Philippsen (Stanford University), and later Eren Erdal Aksoy (Karlsruhe Institute of Technology). In 2012, the Center for Applied Intelligent Systems Research (CAISR) started in close cooperation with Swedish industry with research support from the Knowledge Foundation and Vinnova. Over the next decade, CAISR more than doubled in size (people, research volume and education volume). Today, CAISR includes about 70 people and is a vibrant AI research environment with international staff, high quality research output, close cooperation with industry and public organizations, and awarded education.



Anita Sant'Anna, first PhD student in AI enrolled at Halmstad University graduated 2012.



Kerstin Malmqvist was recruited to Halmstad University in 1984. She led the Centre for Image Analysis from the start in 1986.





Antanas Verikas and Josef Bigun.



Bertil Svensson - a pioneer

Halmstad University is today one of Sweden's largest research environments in Al and machine learning. Some of Sweden's earliest research in the field was carried out here, and one of those who laid the foundations was the university's first provice chancellor, Bertil Svensson.

The fourth International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence was held in Tblisi, Georgia, in 1975. One of the participants was 27-year-old Bertil Svensson, a lecturer and doctoral student at Lund University.

- In the 1970s, work on computers in the field of AI had only just begun. The work centered around theoretical reasoning such as what is computable at all, how knowledge can be represented and what behaviors could be programmed, says Bertil Svensson.

Eight years later, he would become associate professor and pro-vice chancellor at the newly formed Halmstad University, laying the foundations for AI research there. At the time, it was often a matter of building simple but highly parallel structures to mimic how the

brain functions. With fellow PhD students in Lund, Bertil Svensson had built parallel computers that were tested in different applications. At the turn of the 1980s and 1990s, he saw that parallel computers would be needed for the development of artificial neural networks.

- At that time, our research focused on showing that our computer architectures were very well suited to execute neural networks.

An international workshop built the identity

Bertil Svensson helped develop the mechatronics program when Halmstad University was founded in the 1983. He was researching parallel computers and how they could be used to analyze data from sensors in real time. In this work, he had a lot of contact with Anders Lansner, who was doing research in computer science at the Royal Institute of Technology (KTH) in Stockholm. The two built up Sweden's very first research in artificial neural networks, and in 1993 they together organized an international workshop in Halmstad. The title was Mechatronic computer systems

for perception and action. It discussed how mechanics, electronics and computer control could be combined to enable, for example, a robot to orient itself and act in a room.

In the 1970s, work on computers in the field of AI had only just begun. The work centered around theoretical reasoning such as what is computable at all, how knowledge can be represented and what behaviors could be programmed

- In retrospect, I'm surprised we managed to attract so many people. Eighty participants from twenty countries came, many of them very prominent scientists, says Bertil Svensson.

Although the topic of the workshop was described as robotics rather than AI, it contributed to the growth of the AI field in Halmstad. Bertil saw that the meeting gave the university an identity and increased its attractiveness. It made



Bertil Svensson and Thorsteinn Rögnvaldsson at the KK-environment inauguration 2012.

new contacts with other universities and opened up for recruiting a lot of people at the same time. This was possible thanks to the establishment of the Knowledge Foundation, which at the time was making major investments in collaboration between industry and academia.

- The establishment of the Knowledge Foundation, the fact that we knew where we wanted to go and that we had good industrial contacts gave the university strong growth in the 1990s. Among other things, a project called PARAD was carried out together with the part of the Ericsson Group that was then called Ericsson Microwave Systems (now part of SAAB). It involved drawing up guidelines for a massively parallel computer capable of signal processing in airborne radars and in the mobile phone systems that were then being developed. The computer needed to be able to quickly process very large amounts of data on the spot in the aircraft or in the mobile phone base station.

The breakthrough came with more computing power

It was also possible to apply to the Knowledge Foundation for funding for so-called profile areas. Halmstad University made two proposals and received support for one of them. It developed into CERES, Center for research on embedded systems, which Bertil led throughout the profile period until 2013. The other proposal was CAISR, Center for applied intelligent systems research.

- Since the Knowledge Foundation would only fund one profile, we turned to the innovation agency Vinnova with CAISR. We almost got a yes. We got very good reviews but it turned out that we were in the wrong place. It was perhaps not seen as strategic then to build up research in Halmstad?

CAISR was kept going with project money, until in time it too became a



Bertil Svensson and the CERES team 2006. Bertil led the research profile throughout the profile period until 2013.

profile. Bertil Svensson notes that some of the early applications started from industrial needs, while others were based on a benefit that the researchers themselves conceived. But the really big breakthroughs for artificial neural networks came after the turn of the millennium, when computers became more powerful.

- It was then possible to show that neural networks were as good as other approaches in the development of, for example, self-driving vehicles. The fact that parallelism is necessary, with perhaps hundreds of thousands of processors in the same computer, really caught on then, says Bertil Svensson.

Bertil Svensson

1983 Recruited to Halmstad University (the same year as HU is established).

1989 Becomes professor at Luleå University of Technology

1991 Becomes professor at Chalmers University of Technology. He continues to lead research at HU on part time.

1999 Becomes professor at Halmstad University

2005 Started and led CERES until 2013.

The CAISR Environment

In 2012, CAISR was initiated with the aim to build up a collaborative, international, and well-known research and education environment at Halmstad University on AI technologies. It built on our close long-term relationships with Swedish industry and on three pillars of research: computer vision, machine learning, and robotics (three areas that had developed research at Halmstad University since the mid-1990:ies). Over the years, CAISR has grown a lot and increased in diversity: in the start, CAISR had 28 staff members, of which 2 were women, in 2022, CAISR had 73 staff members, of which 16 are women. In 2012, 39% of the staff were born outside Sweden, in 2022, 75% of the staff are born outside Sweden. CAISR started out as a center that overlapped fully with one single (and small) department, but CAISR developed into a large group of people active in AI research and education, with people from more than one department. Today, CAISR is more a group of researchers with a common vision to do high-level applied AI research together with Swedish industry and the public sector, rather than an organizational entity within Halmstad University.

Computer vision, machine learning, and robotics remain pillars in the research but have been complemented with important research on the use of AI tools and service design with AI tools. The joint scientific vision for CAISR is to work towards systems for autonomous knowledge creation: The ability to create and transfer knowledge efficiently is a key competitive advantage for a company or an organization, and techniques for autonomously creating knowledge from data will be very important. In CAISR, we have joint workshops (the picture shows our October poster session 2022), an annual joint PhD

conference, and we collaborate in our education programs and in supervising our Master students. Over the last five years, we have supervised more than a hundred Master theses, many of which have received recognition for their good work. In 2022 one of our Master students, Pooriva Khorramyar, was awarded the first Getinge Sterilization grand prize for the best thesis in Health Innovation: The thesis title was "Visual Transformers for 3D Medical Images Classification: Use-Case Neurodegenerative Disorders", supervised by CAISR staff Stefan Byttner, Farzaneh Etminani, and Amira Soliman.

At CAISR we aim to allow inspiration and creativity to develop by nurturing an environment with a positive attitude and much collaboration, both within the center and with partners external to the center.



Amira Soliman and Sepideh Pashami at the yearly PhD student conference, arranged by the PhD students at the School of Information Technology, Halmstad University



CAISR October poster session 2022

Industrial Advisory Boards

CAISR is an industry guided research and education center. Most of our projects emanate from discussions between academics and external partners, industrial or public sector, typically starting out with a challenge and exploring if and how that can be taken on with state-of-the-art machine learning meth-

ods and what scientific challenges may trial opinions on the industrial value be hidden in the challenge. In our two main application directions, predictive maintenance and information driven care, we work with industrial advisory boards (IABs) who give advice on high-level aspects, e.g., vision and next steps in the cooperation, express indus-

The IAB for CAISR+ predictive maintenance has six members: one chairperson, and one representative each from the industrial partners Volvo Trucks,

Solutions, Volvo Group Trucks Technology, and Toyota Material Handling. These are the industry partners in the big CAISR+ project. During 2022, the Volvo Buses, Volvo Group Connected IAB for predictive maintenance met



Member Jenny Erneman Jörgen Hansson Johan Lindell Ervin Omerspahic Leo Petrin Robert Valton

Jenny Erneman, chairperson CAISR+, Industrial advisory board

The IAB for CAISR Health information driven care has eight members: one chairperson, and one representative each from the industrial and public sec-

tor partners Mölnlycke, InterSystems, Visiba Care, Capio, Novartis, Cambio, and Region Halland, These are the industry and public sector partners in the

Member	Organisation
Thomas Davidsson	Hallandia V
Jan Boberg	Mölnlycke
Otto Medin	InterSystems
Peter Tyreholt	Visiba Care
Niklas Sundler	Capio
Anna Lundberg	Novartis
Johanna Hultcrantz	Cambio
Magnus Clarin	Region Halland



chairperson CAISR Health, Industrial advisory board

and the quality of the coproduction, and express desires and suggestions for valuable industrial outcomes from the cooperation (e.g. demonstrations, reports, etc.). The IABs meet 2-4 times per year, depending on the needs.

three times: in April, in June, and in October. In October, the meeting included a large poster session with all ongoing research projects in CAISR.

Organisation

Volvo Volvo Trucks Toyota Material Handling Volvo Buses Volvo GTT Volvo GCS



big CAISR Health project. In 2022, the IAB for CAISR Health met three times: in March, May, and October.

The IAB design builds a very positive attitude. It is a forum where the company partners get a chance to discuss their perspectives on development with each other and with academic researchers. This is great; such opportunities don't come easy. Thomas Davidsson

Predictive Maintenance

Predictive maintenance (PdM) with machine learning methods is a major research topic in CAISR. Predictive maintenance is about estimating when a system should be maintained to achieve an optimal tradeoff between repair costs and uptime. It is based on the idea that systems can be monitored, often using IoT-based sensors, such that it is possible to estimate their health status and make predictions concerning their remaining useful life or risk of failing. Machine learning techniques allow for cost-efficient automatic or semi-automatic analysis of large amounts of data, taking into account not only the symptoms most directly related to the failures but also the long-term effects of varying usage patterns or external conditions.

In CAISR, we explore machine learning for knowledge creation from real data; this means data from companies' everyday operations, including all the real-world uncertainties, such as missing or strange values, and ambiguities in repair records. This is in contrast to the vast majority of published PdM research, which is based on well-defined data measurements obtained under lablike experimental circumstances, sometimes even simulated, with annotations and known faults. A concrete example of this is PdM research on bearings, which makes up almost 25% of the published PdM research worldwide. We chose this direction in 2005 when we realized that many of the PdM challenges faced by our industrial partners are inherently connected with this non-perfect data, with a lack of known ground truth. These challenges must be handled for solutions to be used in practice.

One research direction in CAISR PdM is estimating critical subsystems' remaining useful life and survival functions based on equipment usage and maintenance data. The research is most often done together with our partner Volvo, and examples of subsystems are turbochargers, coolant pumps, and electrical vehicle (EV) drive batteries.



Electric Volvo truck with batteries. Photo: Volvo Trucks

During 2022, CAISR and Volvo researchers developed an approach to turbocharger failure prediction, using ideas on multitask learning and recurrent networks, that succeeded in predicting an oncoming turbocharger failure about 90 days in advance. This research had the specific challenge that very few turbochargers fail in the field; they are generally replaced before that happens due to the extremely high potential for collateral damage. Still, even with a very small number of failed turbochargers, the researchers were able to come up with a good predictor using domain adaptation and ideas from survivability analysis.

Also, in 2022 CAISR and Volvo researchers explored representation learning and survivability analysis ideas for predicting coolant pump failures. Here a particularly interesting challenge in the operations data was a very high ratio of "no fault found", meaning that many coolant pumps that get replaced turn out to function fine in warranty tests after the replacement. So, an important direction for the research is to detect if a pump replacement has been done prematurely.

For EV drive batteries, CAISR and Volvo researchers showed how EV state-ofhealth estimations could be improved for buses in different markets, where these vehicles are driven differently. The proposed solution builds on transfer learning and domain adaptation to utilize data from one market to make better predictions in another market.

Predictive maintenance is about estimating when a system should be maintained to achieve an optimal tradeoff between repair costs and uptime.

A potentially exciting development for the remaining useful life research during 2022 was connecting to the Volvo Truck Monitoring Center data analytics team in Ghent. The plan for 2023 is to take selected results from the EV drive batteries work targeting the buses and see if they can be applied, as a pilot, to heavy-duty trucks across Europe.

Another CAISR research direction deals with characterizing vehicle usage. This can, e.g., be to recognize what operations a forklift truck does, so that the use of the forklift can be described in much more detail than what is currently done. This research is done together with Toyota Material Handling. The problem, which may at first sound



Picture from the CAISR workshop on streaming data analysis in September 2022. From left: Kenneth Ulrich (StreamAnalyze), Magnus Gedda (StreamAnalyze), Erik Zeitler (StreamAnalyze), Albert Bifet (U. Waikato, NZ), Slawomir Nowaczyk, Thorsteinn Rögnvaldsson, Kunru Chen, Felix Nilsson (HMS Industrial Networks), Sepideh Pashami, and Yibin Sun (U. Waikato, NZ).

simple, turns out to be quite complex. almost perfect accuracy on a small test Different drivers do the same operation differently; the type of goods affects how the operations are done, and compromises between sensor cost and precision mean, as an example, that certain light goods are not detectable by the load sensor. During 2022, CAISR and Toyota Material Handling researchers developed a method based on recurrent networks and context ensembles to use the onboard streaming data to recognize forklift operations with high accuracy, including detecting the transport of "invisible" loads by inferring it from the context. This method achieves



Toyota Fork Lift Triago80. Photo Toyota Material Handling

set, but we know that extending this to other warehouse sites will be a significant challenge. Another example is to use weekly telematics data to recognize how heavy-duty trucks are used. Does a truck do long-distance hauls with overnight stays, or does it always come back to a hub? Is a truck operated by only one driver or several drivers? Is a truck doing repetitive work, or is each trip unique? These questions are simple to answer with access to GPS locations and high-frequency data. However, in many settings, the GPS traces cannot be used for GDPR reasons; and high-frequency operational data is expensive and thus only available for a fraction of the vehicles. CAISR and Volvo researchers showed in 2022 that many truck usage profiles can be recognized with high accuracy even from low-frequency, weekly, aggregated data without GPS. However, it took several attempts at clever combinations of numerous machine learning techniques, including snapshot ensembles and multitask learning, to reach this result.

A third CAISR research direction is the practical implementation of PdM methods. This deals, e.g., with the tradeoff between edge computing and back-office computing. The company StreamAnalyze has been involved with many CAISR partners in tests to do much of the onboard processing. In 2022 we ran an internal workshop with StreamAnalyze, our partner HMS Networks, and our guest professor Albert Bifet, on important and interesting challenges in industrial streaming data. The discussions during these workshops led to a new project, "Federated Learning and Edge Processing for Safe and Efficient Operation," submitted to Vinnova in early 2023. We also published a paper with HMS Networks on interactive human-machine knowledge discovery from industrial communications data.

A CAISR assistant professor works together with Alfa-Laval, developing PdM research together with them, focusing on Alfa-Laval's separator machines. In early 2022 they concluded a project on data-driven virtual sensors for separator machines, where there was a need for filling in missing data for the estimation of tensors.



Hadi Fanaee assistant professor at CAISR works together with Alfa-Laval.

A paper was presented at IDA 2022 on a new suggested method to deal with this: tensor completion with post-correction (TCPC). A major challenge here, as in most other projects involving real industrial data, is the lack of labeled data. Also, the results of unsupervised learning methods most of the time are not verifiable by the experts. Therefore, there has also been development on assisting users to label data in semi-automatic ways. In 2022, a shift was made toward time series modeling. We developed a novel multi-paradigm

composite time series forecasting model that includes three different forecasting paradigms: model-based, statistical, and shape-based, with two other mechanisms for modeling context and machines. The obtained results look astonishingly good compared to the prior state-of-the-art.

The explainable predictive maintenance (XPM) project is a CHIST-ERA EU-funded that aims to provide several different types of explanations for PdM solutions (anything from visual analytics through prototypical examples to deductive argumentative systems) and demonstrate their usefulness in four selected case studies: electric vehicles, metro trains, steel plants, and wind farms. Among project results, the publication of the MetroPT dataset (in Nature Scientific Data) is worth highlighting: it supports the development and comparative evaluation of online anomaly detection and failure prediction machine learning methods. With analog sensor readings, digital signals, and GPS data, the dataset presents a unique and comprehensive platform for predictive maintenance research. Another development was a novel approach, Wisdom of the Contexts (WisCon), for detecting contextual anomalies, especially when true contextual and behavioral attributes are unknown. WisCon builds an ensemble of various contexts with different importance scores, estimated using an active learning strategy with a unique query method. We demonstrate that WisCon substantially outperforms existing state-of-the-art across multiple categories on 18 datasets, thus supporting the hypothesis that no singular context can reveal all contextual anomalies; rather, harnessing multiple contexts is essential. In collaboration with researchers from Porto, members of CAISR studied an LSTM autoencoder-based, data-driven anomaly de-

tection framework and applied it to

several subsystems of a public transport

bus, effectively identifying abnormal

data and reducing false alarm rates. An-

other research direction introduced the

concept of "heterogeneity of decision

boundaries" as a potential explanation for the increased difficulty of multi-class classification problems as the number of classes rises. It demonstrates that higher heterogeneity generally results in reduced performance across most classification approaches. Incorporating such heterogeneity knowledge in problem decomposition has improved classification performance and reduced model training times. These theoretical findings were then applied to predictive maintenance for complex machinery, particularly for predicting time-tofailure, where monitoring data might not be distinct for every possible fault. Conventional prognostic approaches, which use independent models for each fault, prove inadequate, especially when multiple faults share similar symptoms. Instead, we introduce the Hierarchical Multi-fault Prognosis (HMP) framework, creating a fault hierarchy based on symptom similarity and training a regression model at each node.

In the broader scope of CAISR projects beyond specifically predictive maintenance, there is, of course, also a number of findings with high relevance to this topic. To highlight one, as part of the FREEDOM project (From Connected to Sustainable Mobility), we demonstrate the use of traffic simulators and machine learning in combination to generate comprehensive synthetic traffic data, which circumvents ethical, privacy, and cost issues and facilitates analysis of challenging real-world scenarios. Our proposed Synthetic Traffic Data Generator (STDG) overcomes a limitation of traffic simulators: the inability to generate internal vehicle parameters crucial for areas like energy efficiency, driver behavior optimization, and predictive maintenance. We show that a model trained on internal vehicle parameters in one setting can reliably synthesize data for another, reducing the need for expensive, original data collection across different environments.



The EVE research project is co-funded by Vinnova and explores the use of data, analytics, and machine learning to prolong the lifetime of electric vehicles. The project has focused on the most crucial components of an electric drivetrain, such as the batteries, ECUs, charging hardware, and charging infrastructure, to identify the potential for extending the lifetime of these components. Extending the lifetime of these vital components has a large impact on the total cost and environmental impact of electric vehicles, as the drivetrain and ener-

gy storage systems stand for a significant amount of the cost and environmental footprint of heavy-duty vehicles.

Several techniques and methods have been developed, used, and evaluated in the project. For example, Transfer Learning methods were utilized to transfer insights from older hybrid buses into newer generations, providing a significant increase in the ability to calculate and model Battery State of Health over supervised regression models. The project utilized Machine Learning methods



to create predictive maintenance algorithms for the drivetrain, enabling faster identification of errors and, therefore, a longer lifetime of the vehicles. The project explored using FLAML (the Fast and Lightweight AutoML Library in Python) to identify and train machine learning models on real-world data to predict the energy consumption of full-electric vehicles in different driving scenarios, giving insights into critical components and drivers of energy consumption in the vehicles.

Magnus Löwenadler: student in the national PhD School Smart Indu-

ray of critical abilities that Magnus Löwenadler's research seeks to integrate into predictive maintenance systems based on AI/ML. One of these abilities is active engagement in hypothesis testing. When humans discern a potential anomaly, they engage in proactive actions to either validate or refute their hypothesis. This implies an inherent capability to reason, adapt, and learn from dynamic environments. Furthermore, human drivers possess an intuitive understanding of the consequences associated with different vehicular states and symptoms. They can distinguish a problem – such as unusual vibration or diminished engine power - from benign anomalies that might arise from atypical usage or external factors. This

Human operators bring to bear an ar- distinction is vital as it allows for the differentiation between innocuous effects and those that unquestionably signal vehicular issues. In contrast, current AI systems struggle to perform this task consistently and reliably. Moreover, humans excel in their ability to generalize knowledge, exceeding the capabilities of contemporary AI systems. Such a human-like ability to abstract knowledge from one situation and apply it to another will be a key component in creating reliable and robust autonomous vehicles. Magnus Löwenadler's research revolves around the practical implementation of such capabilities into AI/ ML systems. This must involve localized deployment onboard vehicles, or through nearby edge computing nodes.

Information Driven Care

The Research Profile CAISR Health

The Knowledge Foundation funded CAISR Health Research Profile started 2021-07-01 with seven industrial partners together with Region Halland. During 2022 five subprojects were active within CAISR Health (see a summary below). About 15 journal and conference publications were associated with CAISR Health for 2022. We have conducted several activities to promote the development of different projects, to emphasize co-production, and for the fulfillment of our objectives. This includes running three workshops together with our industrial partners on the topics of AI research, Design research, and Implementation research. We also started a series of cross-disciplinary seminars during 2022 to promote learning across subprojects and across disciplines. The first seminar was focused on explainable AI.

In each project, the project group met regularly during 2022 for project planning and discussions about challenges, research questions, ethics, methods as well as expected value and impact. A central part during 2022 was writing

ethics applications to be able to start the projects. The work with ethics applications was valuable from a learning perspective, as the companies usually do not have experience with this. Overall, the activities in each project have contributed to a shared understanding of the latest level of state of know-how in a field from both practical- and theoretical perspectives as well as a greater understanding of the researched subject by understanding the company context, needs and challenges. Here is a summary of the projects and activities during 2022.



Photo from the 2nd IAB Meeting for CAISR Health, hosted by Visiba Care. The organizations and people in the photo are as follows (Novartis was unable to attend this meeting): Top row: Hallandia V (Thomas Davidsson and *Karin Moberg*); *InterSystems (Otto Medin)*; Middle row: Region Halland (Magnus Clarin); Visiba Care (Peter Tyreholt); Halmstad University (Jonathan Burgos and Kobra Etminani)

Front row: Capio (Niklas Sundler); Mölnlycke Health Care (Jan Boberg); Cambio (Jonas Andersson)



Mattias Ohlsson and Petra Svedberg, director and co-director for CAISR Health

CAISR Health Partners Brigham and Women's Hospital Cambio Capio Inter Systems Mölnlycke Novartis Shaarpec **Region Halland** Visiba Care

Project 1: HaRP - Heart failure Readmission Prediction: The main goal of this project is towards completion, calibration, and practical implementation in practice of the 30-day readmission prediction model as a clinical decision support system (CDSS) for clinicians in several selected clinical endpoints for hospitalized HF patients at the time of discharge. This project is in collaboration with Cambio AB and Region Halland, and a team of researchers from School of ITE (AI and informatics researchers) and School of HOV. The AI researchers together with data scientists at Cambio AB, and clinicians from Region Halland have been working on designing and developing a 30-day readmission prediction algorithm using retrospective data from Region Halland patients. Cambio AB, then is preparing a prototype to integrate that into their EHR system and later in 2023 to be assessed by clinicians within various scenarios.

Project 4: VAAT - Validating the quality and the performance of AI-assisted triage and diagnostic tools: The overarching aim of this project is to design and implement a standardized, comprehensive validation process to systematically evaluate the effectiveness, accuracy, and benefits of AI-assisted triage and diagnostics tools in the healthcare system. More specifically, the project will develop new methodologies and metrics to quantify the clinical, economic, and societal values of these technologies in the healthcare system in Sweden by using real-world health records of patients. The project is run in collaboration with Region Halland and Visiba Care AB, manufacturer of the AI-based automatic triage tool Red Robin. Initial feasibility studies were performed in 2022 in preparation for the ethical application process.

CAISR Health projects running 2022

PadAI stands for Participatory and Information Driven Anxiety/Depression Healthcare Journeys of Young Adults. The purpose of the project is to develop knowledge and strategies for coherent, good, and close care for the target group of young adults with mental illness. Research shows that young people and young adults with mental illness do not have access to or do not receive satisfactory and effective support measures when they seek help for their problems. To promote young adults' mental health and prevent ill-health, a joint research project has been initiated by Region Halland, Halmstad University, and Capio Healthcare. Several stakeholder interviews have been conducted during 2022 to understand the problem. There are a number of mobile applications available in the market to help mental health seekers. Informatics researchers have been looking to investigate a few of them. Extensive data access was granted for the project in late 2022.

Project 2: PadAI – AI for better mental health in young people: Project 3: CAISR Wound: In today's healthcare system, the burden of wound care is growing as a national and global concern. Acute and hard-to-heal wounds cause major problems, both from a human and financial perspective. From a human perspective, wounds have a major impact on the patient in the form of suffering, pain and reduced quality of life, and from an economic perspective, the need for resources and the costs of wound treatment are significant. The overall purpose of this project is to increase knowledge about of care delivery pathways and processes for patients suffering from wound problems and is a collaboration between Region Halland and Mölnlycke AB. Data access from region Halland was granted during 2022. Initial studies are underway investigating how can AI-based analyses be used as a tool to develop deeper knowledge about wound care processes, wound treatment, and its effects. During 2022 it was decided to recruit an industrial PhD student to the project, co-supervised by Mölnlycke AB.

Project 5: Cardiovascular Health: How could high-risk Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) patients and patient trajectories be described from a demographic, clinical, and resource perspective? How could AI-assisted retrospective analysis be used as a tool to create actionable knowledge about disease progression, treatment, and care flows for the ASCVD cohort? These are the main research questions for this subproject run in collaboration with Region Halland and Novartis Sverige AB. The project is in its initial phases and much of the focus in 2022 was on running feasibility studies, formulating the research plan, and preparing the ethical review board application.

The CAISR Health profile started in 2021 and in 2022 a strategic research program was initiated with strategic funding from the vice-chancellor. The CAISR Health profile is now part of an ecosystem of partners, Schools, projects, and innovation arenas. For example, CAISR Health interacts closely with the innovation center Leap for Life, which hosts innovation activities like the European Digital Innovation Hub (see below), and the national PhD school on Health Innovation (described in last year's report).

Large scale strategic research program initiated

In 2022, the vice chancellor initiated the strategic research program Information Driven Care. This is a long-term (up to ten years) strategic investment from the university to establish an internationally strong research grouping on information driven care, a research group that can position the research at the university. The research group behind the CAISR Health research profile wrote the proposal, which was evaluated by external and international evaluators with a very good outcome. The additional strategic funding from the vice chancellor is expected to be close to fifty million SEK for the first five years.

The Information Driven Care research program focuses on the development of multidisciplinary research on information driven care, connecting the fields of AI and machine learning, implementation, and innovation. The research program takes a broad approach to examine information driven care and the integration of AI systems in healthcare. The program will work to enhance and strengthen the evidence to use AI systems in the transformation of healthcare, thus finding new ways of working to meet growing demands of efficiency and equality in healthcare, while limiting costs and improving quality and patient experience. The goal is to take a strong position nationally and internationally through a unique combination

of multidisciplinary perspectives on information driven care. The research program is based on the long-standing collaboration between Halmstad University, Region Halland, and companies with an ambition to increase knowledge and solutions for transformation into information driven care in relation to urgent and relevant healthcare problems.

The Information Driven Care research program focuses on the development of multidisciplinary research on information driven care, connecting the fields of AI and machine learning, implementation, and innovation.

Real-World Evidence (RWE) projects

In 2022, we set the forms on how to run the so-called Real-World Evidence (RWE) projects. Four RWE projects were done in 2022 on heart failure, chronic kidney disease, and diabetes. Three of them resulted in publications accepted or published preprints during 2022.

Project 1: Soliman et al. (2022). "The Price of Explainability in Machine Learning Models for 100-Days Readmission Prediction in Heart Failure", *Journal of Medical Internet Research* (*JMIR*). This project showed that a widely used deep prediction model did not outperform an explainable machine learning model when predicting readmissions among HF patients. Thus, model transparency does not have to come at a price of lower performance, which could support clinical adoption.

Project 2: Davidge et al. (2023). "Clinical characteristics at hospital discharge that predict cardiovascular readmission within 100 days in heart failure patients – An observational study", *Int'l Journal* of Cardiology Cardiovascular Risk and Prevention, vol. 16. This project looked at heart failure patients and found clinical factors already present at discharge that are associated with increased risk of readmission, factors that should be considered at discharge.

Project 3: Jendle et al. (2022). "Patterns and Predictors Associated With Long-Term Glycemic Control in Pediatric and Young Adult Patients with Type 1 Diabetes", *Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology*. This project studied individuals with type 1 diabetes, and found that more frequent visits to physicians, and a visit to dietitians, and psychologists were associated with improved glucose control in individuals with T1D 0 to 25 years. Increased resources, including access to more advanced technologies, may be required to aid young adults with T1D



Readmission is connected with high costs and personal suffering



Increased resources, including access to more advanced technologies, may be required to aid young adults with T1D

Two new Vinnova funded projects

The project *Information Driven Care* – *federated learning and synthetic data* generation started in August 2022 and will continue to March 2023. The project is a Vinnova-funded pre-study for a much larger national system demonstrator project (up to 30 million SEK) that will be applied for in 2023.

The project tests the possibility of sharing information from several regions via so-called federated learning. That is, how to train a machine learning model on data from multiple regions without the data leaving the regions. In this project, clinical and resource-related data from heart failure patients are used. Region Halland has already analyzed and researched this data and the goal is to be able to do the same kind of analysis with heart failure data from Region Örebro län.

Synthetic generation of health data is also tested, primarily by one partner in the project, the company Hallandia V. They are developing a method to synthesize health data, where the quality of the data is maintained but individual privacy is preserved. It has resulted in an article that has been sent to NPJ Digital Medicine Nature journal: Nikolentzos, G. et al. "Synthetic electronic health records generated with variational graph autoencoders", NPJ Digital Medicine, 6(1), 83.

The pre-study has seven partners: Halmstad University, Region Halland, Region Örebro län, Region Kronoberg, Örebro University, AI Sweden, Astrazeneca AB, and Hallandia V AB.



Synthetic generation of health data is tested.

The project *Prevention 360* was applied for in 2022 and started early 2023. Prevention 360 is a pre-study project to build a proposal for a Vinnova-funded national strategic innovation program (to be applied for in October 2023). This pre-study also has seven partners: AI Sweden, Halmstad University, Region Halland, Region Västra Götaland, Uppsala University, SIR (Zero Vision Cancer), and Fokus Patient.

Partner in an EU-funded national innovation hub

In 2022, the consortium and project Health Data Sweden was granted to be one of Europe's digital innovation hubs (EDIH). One of the aims of Health Data Sweden is to increase the use of health data to contribute to more efficient healthcare. An important task will therefore be to meet the great need for services that contribute

to small and medium-sized companies in collaboration with the public sector being able to develop new digital health and welfare services. In addition to better health for the individual, these services can also contribute to solving major demographic societal challenges, for example making care more accessible and equal.

One of the aims of Health Data Sweden is to increase the use of health data to contribute to more efficient healthcare.

The partners in Health Data Sweden are Blekinge Digital Health, Bron Innovation, DigitalWell Arena, eHealth Arena, EIT Digital, EIT Health, Halmstad University, Karolinska Institute, The Royal Institute of Technology, Linnaeus University, Livsmedicin, Region Stockholm, RISE, Stockholm Science City, Stockholm University, STUNS Life Science, and Uppsala University.

Computer Vision

The main research directions in the computer vision group in CAISR are applications for biometrics and autonomous driving. Professor Josef Bigun is the top Swedish researcher in Biometrics and an IEEE Fellow. The group is highly cited and has a strong scientific position, with a track record of several consecutive projects funded by the prestigious Swedish Research Council. The group members are very active in teaching, e.g. in Halmstad University's popular IT-forensics program and in the machine learning courses on deep learning.

In 2022, two new projects were granted with funding from Vinnova (Sweden's Innovation Agency):

BigFun: Big Data-Powered End User Function. A project together with Volvo Trucks. The project is exploratory and aims to understand how to apply quantitative analytic methods to identify moments of interest in real-world vehicle journeys. The combination of these findings with advanced qualitative analytic methods will generate actionable insights such as a deeper understanding of challenges and opportunities for improving truck function, feature, and service design to better suit commercial mobility needs.



To the right: The Big Fun project group

DIFFUSE: Disentanglement of Features for Utilization in Systematic Evaluation. A project together with RISE (Research Institutes Sweden) and the company SmartEye for controllable synthetic data generation (mainly faces). A challenge in generation of datasets is to create a good combination of realism, control, and variation. In the DIFFUSE project we propose an improvement of current algorithms for data generation by developing their ability to disentangle features in the input. A specific part of the input should control a specific and understandable part of the output data. This has applications in increasing the understanding of what a generated dataset contains to give a clearer picture of in what situations a network trained on it could be expected to work.

In 2022, the group also got an EU Horizon project granted, ROADVIEW, which is described in details in the following pages. An ongoing project is Facial Analysis in the Era of Mobile Devices and Face Masks, funded by the Swedish Research Council.

The Computer Vision group has five active PhD students, of which two are enrolled in the national industrial PhD school Smart Industry Sweden (see next page), and two are working in the EU-funded ROADVIEW project (see following pages). The fifth student is getting very close to his dissertation.

RISE is Sweden's research institute and innovation partner. In international cooperation with companies, academia and the public sector, they contribute to a competitive business life and a sustainable society. The 3,000 employees drive and support all types of innovation processes. RISE is an independent, government research" that offers unique expertise and around 100 test and demonstration environments for future-proof technologies, products and services.



Ph D Students at Smart Industry Sweden. Felix and Martin works towards the goal to strengthen the competivness and innovativeness of Swedish Industry.





Roadview

Complex environment and traffic conditions have a major impact on the safety and operations of Connected and Automated Vehicles (CAVs). Weather affects not only the vehicle performance but also the roadway infrastructure, thereby increasing the risk of collision and traffic scenario variations.

So far, most automated vehicles have been primarily trained and tested under optimal weather and road conditions with clear visibility. However, the systems must prove that they are equally reliable and accurate under any weather and road condition before they can see widespread acceptance and adoption.

The challenges for automated driving systems caused by harsh weather conditions, such as fog, rain and snow are substantial, as these affect the functioning of their key technologies and their development: sensors, detection, control and system testing.

There is currently a strong push globally for automated vehicles in general and towards solving harsh-weather-related challenges.

The project brings together 16 partners who together aim to solve challenging autonomous driving problems under harsh weather conditions using AI. The consortium is a perfect combination of leading universities in the field and research institutes, high-tech SMEs, and strong industry leaders. Beyond their research excellence, the consortium members bring a unique portfolio of testing sites and testing infrastructure, ranging from hardware-testing facilities and rain and wind tunnels to test tracks north of the Arctic Circle.

Complex environment and traffic conditions have major impact on the safety and operations of Connected and Automated Vehicles (CAVs). Weather affects not only the vehicle performance but also the roadway infrastructure, thereby increases the risk of collision and traffic scenarios variations. So far, most automated vehicles have been primarily trained and tested under optimal weather and road conditions with clear visibility. However, the systems will have to prove that they are equally reliable and accurate under any weather and road condition before they can see widespread acceptance and adoption. ROADVIEW integrates a complex in-vehicle system-of-systems able to

perform advanced environment and traffic recognition and prediction and determine the appropriate course of action of a CAV in a real-world environment, including harsh weather conditions. ROADVIEW develops an embedded in-vehicle perception and decision-making system based on enhanced sensing, localisation, and improved object/person classification (including vulnerable road users). ROADVIEW ground-breaking innovations are grounded on a cost-effective multisensory setup, sensor noise modelling and filtering, collaborative perception, testing by simulation-assisted methods and integration and demonstration under different scenarios and weather conditions, reaching TRL 7 by the end of the project. ROADVIEW implements the co-programmed European Partnership "Connected, Cooperative and Automated Mobility" (CCAM) partnership by contributing to the development of a more powerful, fail-safe, resilient and weather-aware technologies.

The ROADVIEW system is a culmination of interdisciplinary challenges and brings together key players on standards and system requirements, sensor performance, data processing and management for automated vehicle operation in adverse weather, collaborative perception, decision-making systems, testing and validation, demonstration and EU project management, communication and dissemination.

Partners

- Halmstad University (coordinator)
- Lapland University of Applied Sciences
- Technische Hochschule Ingolstadt
- Swedish National Road and Transport Research Institute
- Centre d'études et d'expertise sur les risques, l'environnement, la mobilité et l'aménagement
- RISE Research Institutes of Sweden AB
- Finnish Geospatial Research Institute FGI
- Repli5
- Aurora Snowbox OY
- Sensible 4 OY
- Konrad GmbH
- Ford Otosan
- Canon Research Centre France
- ZF Friedrichshafen AG
- accelopment Schweiz AG
- The University of Warwick



ROADVIEW

Perception systems

ROADVIEW will deliver more powerful and reliable in-vehicle perception systems, with improved resilience and accuracy under harsh weather conditions.

- Improved sensor and noise models
- Using noise filtering to improve deroad users
- tional sensors, such as thermal camera and imaging RADAR

tection HD map technology



- Using adaptive sensor fusion and





On 8-9 September 2022, the kick-off for the Horizon Europe granted research consortium ROADVIEW was held at Halmstad University.

collaborative infrastructure-based perception for improving object and drivable area (free space) de-

Improved localisation and use of

Testing and validation

ROADVIEW will develop novel noise models and integrate them into the different test systems. For their operation, we will achieve modularity in an X-in-the-loop test environment in which different sensor models can be integrated to generate synthetic sensor data and test sensor hardware. Furthermore, standard interfaces (e.g., OSI) will enable a gradual migration from sensor to vehicle-in-the-loop testing without any modification of the system-under-test.



Eren Aksoy, Project coordinator ROADVIEW

IT Forensics

Student programme

In 2022, the IT-forensics and information security program was the most popular program for new students to Halmstad University, i.e. the program with the largest number of applicants.

In the IT forensics and information security program, students learn the basics of computer technology, computer networks, and IT security systems. They further learn to use forensic tools to extract digital information from computer systems and to practically apply methods to encrypt or hide data. The students also gain knowledge in how to search for and secure traces and document the work in criminal investigations. The education includes basic criminology and law with a focus on IT-related crimes.

The program started in 2008. Over the 15 years since then, more than 700 students have started the program and the alumni work with the Swedish Police, the Swedish National Forensic Center, the Swedish National Operative Department, the Security Police, the Swedish Customs, the Swedish Armed Forces, and at all the large banks. The IT forensics and information security program at Halmstad University is very well known in the relevant sectors in Sweden.

In 2021, three key persons in the program staff were awarded the Halmstad University award for cooperation and innovation, see picture, for successfully developing collaboration between academia, public and private sectors to support society in the fight against the rapidly increasing IT crimes.

The IT forensics and information security program is a unique gem at Halmstad University, where some CAISR staff teach and create research projects connected to the education.

Research : AI-Powered Crime Scene Analysis

is about automatic analysis of indoor crime scenes."We will study AI technologies for environment mapping, segmentation and classification of objects and traces found at such scenarios worthy of immediate investigation, eg to the scene, allowing post-analysis, avoid contamination of the scene or warn for hazardous situations.

Crime scene investigation is nor- To achieve our aims, we will exmally done by forensics experts

The project, funded by Vinnova, will automatize these tasks, allow- depth sensors like LIDAR. To ing the team to directly concentrate on the analysis of important cues, thus saving precious time during the first moments after a crime. Outputs will also remain as an uncontaminated model of if necessary, during any step of the investigation.

plore vision technologies like visupon arrival. The present project ible, IR, thermal, and non-vision

ensure that the scene is contaminated to the least possible extent, we will investigate the use of nanodrones. This is a challenge, since existing drones equipped with those sensors are usually big and unsuitable, for example, for small flats. To counteract potential difficulties in such innovative task, we will also investigate the use of smartphones or bodycams worn by first-responders.

The MAISTR program...

in 2021 to provide an offering of courses to professionals in AI, service design and innovation management. The first batch of courses were delivered starting in 2022, a total of 17 courses was given out of the whole programme of 26 courses. The remaining 9 courses are planned to be delivered for the first time in 2023, along with a second run of each course that was given in 2022. For the courses that were given in 2022, the number of students typically varied between 17 to 69 students, where most courses had about 30-40 registered students. The course evaluations along with the overall student satisfaction index was good, where most courses had in the range of 70-95% student satisfaction index. Because of the many interesting responses in course evaluations, we are planning an interview series of students, companies and teachers during 2023 where we will dig deeper into the values and learnings from the courses so far. We have also during the year interacted with all the partner companies, to get input on our offering and what kind of competence needs they



Sepideh Pashami and Stefan Byttner

...and Eliza

a wide range of scientists, professors and professionals within AI who will share their perspectives and knowledge about the technology already forming podcast is not only to give our listeners a deeper understanding of what AI is capable of today but also to give different points of view on the technology and its usage.

Eliza is the podcast where you will meet Hosting the podcast are Sepideh Pashami, Senior Lecturer in AI/Machine Learning from Halmstad university, and Amanda Åberg, UX & Service Designer from the design agency inUse. Togethour everyday lives today. The aim of the er, and in conversation with the guests, they take on different subjects related to AI and make it understandable for a broad audience in order to shine a light on this important topic and its impact on our lives.

participated in the courses as guest lecturers, to provide an applied industrial perspective on the topics.

During 2022 there was also started development of a podcast connected to MAISTR ("Eliza: The beyond AI podcast"). The intention with the podcast Åberg (InUse).

The MAISTR programme was initiated have. Some of the companies have also is to allow insight into the topics of the program, be able to get to know the teachers and other experts in the field, as well as to listen to our pedagogical reflections related to life-long learning. The podcast is hosted by Sepideh Pashami (HU and RISE) and Amanda



Outreach

Outreach activities

Besides several workshops with industry partners during 2022, we also organized thematic workshops at conferences, podcasts, short courses, talks in non-research contexts, and educational seminars. Some highlights are provided here (the MAISTR short courses for professionals and the Eliza podcast are described on the previous page).

- Information driven healthcare turning data into health for patients and quality of care. A workshop organized jointly by CAISR and Region Halland at the International Forum on Quality and Safety in Healthcare conference, in June 2022 (workshop organizers: Farzaneh Etminani, Markus Lingman, Martin Engström, and Carolina Samuelsson). The forum was organized by the Institute for Healthcare Improvement and BMJ (formerly the British Medical Journal).
- The Halmstad Professionals Network. We contributed to lunch talks online, where professionals could follow and get updated. Two examples during 2022 were:
 - Rune Prytz (Head of R&D at Stratio), who talked about Predictive Maintenance and how Stratio's proprietary technology combines largescale processing with the latest machine learning techniques to prevent hundreds of thousands of breakdowns from happening every day.
 - Panel discussion on "AI researchers meet healthcare professionals: vision for the common future", with Markus Lingman (Region Halland and CAISR), Ricard Gavaldá (UPC), Martin Atzmüller (Osnabrück University and DKFI), Myra Spiliopoulou (Otto-von-Guericke University, Magdeburg), Miltiadis Triantafyllou (Region Halland), and Martin Engström (Region Halland).
- Pod "Digital Conversations". Pontus Wärnestål participated in a pod discussion on considering AI as a new design material, when developing AI-based services.
- Intensive course in India on service design with AI. Pontus Wärnestål, CAISR member and adjunct professor at Woxsen University in Hyderabad, gave a two-week intensive course on service design, AI, and reflective sustainable design practice.
- Workshop on IoT Streams for Predictive Maintenance. CAISR staff co-organized this workshop at the ECML-PKDD conference 2022.

Awarded students

The students we supervise or teach often get awarded for their thesis projects or other achievements. 2022 was no exception.

- Getinge grand award for Health Innovation went to Pooriya Khorramyar for his M.Sc. thesis work Visual Transformers for 3D Medical Images Classification: Use-Case Neurodegenerative Disorders. Supervisors Amira Soliman, Stefan Byttner, and Farzaneh Etminani.
- The 3rd prize from Sten Fåhré memorial was awarded to Fahad Hassan & Sebastian Hagblom for their M.Sc. thesis work Virtual sensing och hauler engine sensors. Supervisors Yuantao Fan and Zahra Taghiyarrenani.
- The Devoteam prize for best thesis work on the civilingenjör in computer engineering/intelligent systems program went to Leif Sulaiman and Sebastian Larsson for their thesis work Genre style transfer. Supervisors Yuantao Fan and Peyman Mashhadi.
- Sparbanksstiftelsen Kronan awarded one of their top prizes to Bachelor students Joel Pålsson and Otto Zell for their thesis Fire detection in industrial environments. Supervisors Kevin Hernández Diaz, CAISR, and Felix Nilsson, HMS Industrial Networks.
- Nadia Benamer was nominated to Tech Girl of the Year 2022 by Microsoft Sweden. Nadia was a student in the IT Forensics and Information Security program

"The message I want to spread to others is that as long as you have an interest and are willing to fight for it, no dream is too big.'

Nadia Benamer, student, IT forensic and information security programme

Funding and publishing

In 2022, the research turnover in CAISR was 31.3 MSEK (million Swedish kronor) on the university side, i.e. not including in-kind efforts by our partners. This is almost a 20% increase from 2021 (26.4 MSEK). The external funding ratio increased (73% in 2022, cf. 69% in 2021). The sources of research funds to CAISR (on the Halmstad University side) are illustrated in the pie diagram to the right. The three largest sponsors were the Knowledge Foundation, Halmstad University, and Vinnova (Sweden's Innovation Agency). The fourth largest funder was the Swedish Research Council. Both the Knowledge Foundation and Vinnova support projects that are done in close collaboration between academics and industry (or the public sector). The funding from the Swedish Research Council, which sponsors more fundamental research, more than doubled cf. 2021.

EU

The Swedish Research Counc

Scientific publications and impact

After a temporary drop in publications 2021, the CAISR researchers reached a new high in 2022, with 48 publications, of which 27% were published in level 2 journals (in the Norwegian ranking system). This is very good and it is an impressive development over the last ten years, as illustrated in the figure, with an increase of 4-5 times in scientific journal publications per year. Over this period, the focus has also shifted from conference publications to journal publications. In 2013, 29% of the total were journal papers. In 2022, 74% of the total were journal papers.



Strengths of the core research directions

The three core research directions in CAISR are computer vision, predictive maintenance, and information driven care. The table lists some key publication indicators (KPIs) for the research staff working in each direction, as an indication of each directions' potential. Visiting researchers (e.g. visiting professors) are not included. The KPIs are based on Web of Science data.

Several of the staff work in more than one of the research direction

	Staff with PhD	PhD students (2022)	WoS publ. 2018-2022	WoS citations 2018-2022	WoS H-index
Computer Vision	5	5	50	452	15
Predictive Maintenance	14	7	121	782	15
Information Driven Care	10	4	86	1533	20

Research funding on the university side



2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 ■ Level 0 ■ Level 1 ■ Level 2

ons but the KPIs are based on placing them into only o
--

Visiting professor with an interest in **streaming data**

Banking systems, flood threats, and predictive maintenance – these are a few of the things CAISR's visiting professor Albert Bifet is working on. His research area is AI development for streaming data.

When data comes in continuously and is analyzed in real time, high capacity, efficiency, and flexibility are required. In Professor Albert Bifet's research, machine learning is performed on data that passes through the system without being stored. Therefore, the learning methods must also be adjusted in real time.

- How do you adapt your systems effectively when circumstances change? This is a question that interests me a lot. During the pandemic, it became so clear that many machine learning systems failed because they had been trained with data from previous situations that were no longer relevant. It's easy to see that something is starting to change - but predicting something that has never happened before is much more difficult, says Albert Bifet.

He is from Barcelona, holding a professorship at the LTCI at Télécom Paris but spending most of his time in New Zealand, where he leads the Te Ipu o te Mahara Artificial Intelligence Institute at the University of Waikato. Much of his work is based on open source software, Moa in Java and River in Python.

AI helps banks and environmental researchers alike

In France, Albert Bifet collaborates with the bank BNP Paribas in a project where real time machine learning is used to detect small anomalies in the system before they grow and cause a server crash. His research group work a lot with explainable AI, mainly the SHAP values method, Shapley additive



Albert Bifet Guest Professor

explanations, which Albert Bifet also develops further.

- Today many algorithms are used without anyone checking that they do the job well enough, but in the future I think we will want an explanation from each system.

In New Zealand, the focus is on environmental projects. The aim is to help environmental scientists improve and streamline their work, such as analyzing images using deep learning, or more accurately predicting extreme weather and natural events.

- One of the problems with AI today is that the large models require so much energy. It is important that we develop 'green AI', so that the new methods for solving environmental problems do not contribute with new problems.

One project is about predicting floods, another about irrigation and water resources in cultivated forests. They combine satellite images and data from sensors mounted in the trees.

- We use a new data architecture called data mesh, a distributed architecture that allows us to collect huge amounts of data in real time from all these tree sensors," says Professor Bifet.

Predictive maintenance is the core in Halmstad

In Halmstad, there will be less work on forests and more on predictive maintenance, an area that attracted Albert Bifet when he accepted the visiting professorship. In France, he runs a project on maintenance solutions for railways based on data from the state-owned SNCF, and together with employees from CAISR, he has helped organizing a major European workshop on machine learning and data mining in predictive maintenance.

- I was very happy when they offered me a two-year position here. I have a lot to learn and I am convinced that we will create great research collaborations, says Albert Bifet.

More broadly, he hopes that the use of AI will lead to a future in which people can do their jobs more efficiently and thus have more free time. While regulation is needed to prevent AI from being developed for harmful purposes, the problem is not the technology but who uses it, says Professor Bifet.

- As a researcher, I am proud to contribute to open-source tools. The rapid progress of AI is largely due to open source, and avoiding 'black boxes' also helps us control the technology and avoid dangers. Openness brings both better innovation and greater safety.

Motivated by being involved **from research to the clinic**

After graduating from Cairo University with a degree in computer science, Amira Soliman got a job in industry but grew tired of the routine. In her research, she can be driven by her own curiosity.

In industry, everything was so systematic, you had to follow instructions and not question directions.

- But I really like to ask questions about everything, like in research!

Amira Soliman became a research assistant at Alexandria University, then applied for PhD positions abroad, came to the Royal Institute of Technology (KTH) in Stockholm and defended her thesis on graph-based analyses. As a postdoctoral researcher at RISE (Research Institutes of Sweden), she realized the possibilities in healthcare. Her focus was already on data analysis in real world situations, and at RISE she worked with data from cancer patients at the Karolinska Hospital.

- When working with healthcare, it is not enough to understand the data, you also need to understand the expectations of the staff. If you develop a tool to help clinicians, it must fit into their workflows," says Amira Soliman. She is now an assistant lecturer in Halmstad. In CAISR Health she saw

the opportunity to work with both research and practical implementation.

AI for heart failure and mental health problems

One of Amira Soliman's projects involves a decision support tool to assess the risk of recurrence for heart failure patients. The model is based on clinical data but also some administrative data, such as whether the patient came through the emergency room or another department. The tool will assess the risk that the patient, if dismissed from



Amira Soliman Associate Senior Lecturer

the hospital, will return within 30 days. It should also indicate which information that led to the conclusion. - The clinics should therefore be able to understand the logic used by the model and thus learn more about the risk factors. Our partners in the project are Region Halland and the company Cambio, which is developing a prototype so that we can carry out an implementation study.

Region Halland is also a partner in a project on depression and anxiety in young adults. Using anonymized patient data from diagnosed patients, Amira Soliman and her colleagues are tracking healthcare contacts back in time. The goal is a model that predicts which symptoms signal the risk of mental health problems.

- We have had several meetings with clinicians to be able to group the data correctly and build a model that can be used in practice. We want to find patterns in the data that make it possible to help young people as early as possible, perhaps through stress management or support and activities that make them feel better.

Important to work closely with the healthcare personnel

AI development with patient data is always a challenge because of the absolute importance of patient privacy. Therefore, Amira Soliman also works with synthetic data; when researchers use a real dataset to develop a model that can then generate 'fictitious' data with the same characteristics as the real data. This results in data that can be used to train AI systems but cannot be linked to a person.

Amira Soliman says that physicians and nurses are often very positive about AI technology if it can relieve their workload. But of course, patient safety always comes first. The new technology must be linked to clinical expertise, and CAISR researchers' collaboration with healthcare professionals is important for both trust and functionality.

- The clinical ecosystem is so complex, from medical guidelines to patient management and cost recording systems – you can't just put an AI tool anywhere and expect it to work.

When Amira Soliman came to Sweden, she was worried about feeling different among the Swedish students and researchers, but she was pleasantly surprised. The KTH campus was teeming with people from all over the world. Even in Halmstad, the workplace is multicultural and interdisciplinary.

- I really like it. We have so many types of expertise and we get to be involved all the way from data collection to prototyping. Starting with research and ending up with something that actually helps doctors to help their patients this motivates me at work every day.

From a village without electricity to quantum computing

Prayag Tiwari was 18 years old when he saw a computer for the first time. Now, an assistant professor at CAISR, he researches quantum machine learning, multimodal analysis, and much more.

Prayag Tiwaris describes his research interests as "very broad". No exaggeration, if you look at the list of topics on his website: artificial intelligence, quantum machine learning, graph neural networks, federated learning, reinforcement learning, cognitive science, healthcare, bioinformatics, IoT, multi-modal fusion...

After graduating from Rajiv Gandhi Technical University in Bhopal, studies, research, and scholarships took him to Russia, Italy, Finland, and finally to Halmstad University. His doctoral thesis was on quantum machine learning: new methods for extracting information from data using methods and knowledge from the world of quantum physics. Prayag Tiwari describes the two quantum physics concepts of superposition, where a particle is in two states at the same time, and entanglement, where two particles are linked together in such a way that they share a common guantum state, no matter how far apart they are from each other.

- In very simple terms, quantum physics provides greater degrees of freedom when making decisions. I want to encode classical data into quantum states with those degrees of freedom.

Algorithms detect depression and side effects

Some of Prayag Tiwari's projects are basic science while others are applied. For example, he has been developing depression detection systems using different types of data including, text,



Prayag Tiwari Assistant Professor

video, image, audio, and multi-modal information.

- The aim is to be able to screen people and assess whether they need to seek medical attention. Our model combines text with analyses of facial expressions and voices to make the assessment very effective.

Another project deals with drug interactions, where different drugs interact in ways that cause side effects. Prayag Tiwari and his colleagues have used data from social media where people write about both their treatments and their well-being, and designed an algorithm that uses natural language processing to detect phrases that indicate side effects. 'They used social media because it is a simple and cheap source of data,' explains Prayag Tiwari. The project is now being further developed in collaboration with Aalto University, which will give the Halmstad researchers access to patient data from the healthcare system.

"Since then, I have kept moving"

Prayag Tiwari was born in the state of Uttar Pradesh, India, in a village with no electricity or telephone. His childhood was struggling and at the age of 15 he moved to the city of Deoria to start further education.

- Since then I've continued to move around. I hadn't even seen a computer until I was eighteen, nineteen years old, but after high school I got a scholarship to move to Russia and there I learnt to code.

He trained as an electrical engineer after his Bachelor degree and worked for a few years but found it boring. A university lecturer suggested that he study computer science. This led to a master's degree at MISIS Technical University in Moscow and a job as a research assistant. He was then accepted as a doctoral student at the University of Padua in Italy, and after completing his thesis, moved to Aalto University in Finland for a postdoctoral position.

Prayag Tiwari writes dozens of scientific articles a year. When asked how he finds the time, he laughs a little and says that he works very hard. At times he has worked 12 hours a day, seven days a week.

- I work less now, you need some time off. But I really enjoy exploring new things and it's so nice to contribute to a field. Even if it's just something small, it will help other researchers. It gives me inspiration. And, of course, I want to make life better for my family. They depend on me, I support them. It drives me forward in my work.

Towards Reliable, Stable and Fast Learning for **Smart Home Activity Recognition**

Abstract

The current population age grows increasingly in industrialized societies and calls for more intelligent tools to monitor human activities. The aims of these intelligent tools are often to support senior people in their homes, to keep track of their daily activities, and to early detect potential health problems to facilitate a long and independent life. The recent advancements of smart environments using miniaturized sensors and wireless communications have facilitated unobtrusively human activity recognition.

Human activity recognition has been an active field of research due to its broad applications in different areas such as healthcare and smart home monitoring. This thesis project develops work on machine learning systems to improve the understanding of human activity patterns in smart home environments. One of the contributions of this research is to process and share information across multiple smart homes to reduce the learning time, reduce the need and effort to recollect the training data, as well as increase the accuracy for applications such as activity recognition. To achieve that, several contributions are presented to pave the way to transfer knowledge among smart homes that includes the following studies. Firstly, a method to align manifolds is proposed to facilitate transfer learning. Secondly, we propose a method to further improve the performance of activity recognition over the existing methods. Moreover, we explore imbalanced class problems in human activity recognition and propose a method to handle imbalanced human activities. The summary of these studies are provided below.

In our work, it is hypothesized that aligning learned low-dimensional manifolds from disparate datasets could be used to transfer knowledge between different but related datasets. The t-distributed Stochastic Neighbor Embedding(t-SNE)

is used to project the high-dimensional input dataset into low-dimensional manifolds. However, since t-SNE is a stochastic algorithm and there is a large variance of t-SNE maps, a thorough analysis of the stability is required before applying Transfer learning. In response to this, an extension to Local Procrustes Analysis called Normalized Local Procrustes Analysis (NLPA) is proposed to non-linearly align manifolds by using locally linear mappings to test the stability of t-SNE low-dimensional manifolds. Experiments show that the disparity from using NLPA to align low-dimensional manifolds decreases by order of magnitude compared to the disparity obtained by Procrustes Analysis (PA). NLPA outperforms PA and provides much better alignments for the low-dimensional manifolds. This indicates that t-SNE low-dimensional manifolds are locally stable, which is the part of the contribution in this thesis.

Licentiate exam



Rebeen Ali Hamad

Human activity recognition in smart homes shows satisfying recognition results using existing methods. Often these methods process sensor readings that precede the evaluation time (where the decision is made) to evaluate and deliver real-time human activity recognition. However, there are several critical situations, such as diagnosing people

with dementia where "preceding sensor activations" are not always sufficient to accurately recognize the resident's daily activities in each evaluated time. To improve performance, we propose a method that delays the recognition process to include some sensor activations that occur after the point in time where the decision needs to be made. For this, the proposed method uses multiple incremental fuzzy temporal windows to extract features from both preceding and some oncoming sensor activations. The proposed method is evaluated with two temporal deep learning models: one-dimensional convolutional neural network (1D CNN) and long short-term memory (LSTM) on a binary sensor dataset of real daily living activities. The experimental evaluation shows that the proposed method achieves significantly better results than the previous state-of-the-art.

Further, one of the main problems of activity recognition in a smart home setting is that the frequency and duration of human activities are intrinsically imbalanced. The huge difference in the number of observations for the categories means that many machine learning algorithms focus on the classification of the majority examples due to their increased prior probability while ignoring or misclassifying minority examples. This thesis explores well-known class imbalance approaches (synthetic minority over-sampling technique, cost-sensitive learning and ensemble learning) applied to activity recognition data with two temporal data pre-processing for the deep learning models LSTM and 1D CNN. This thesis proposes a data level perspective combined with a temporal window technique to handle imbalanced human activities from smart homes in order to make the learning algorithms more sensitive to the minority class. The experimental results indicate that handling imbalanced human activities from the data-level outperforms algorithm level and improved the classification performance.

Learning from Multiple Domains

Abstract

knowledge between domains by adapting them. The most well-known DA scenario in the literature is adapting two domains of source and target using the available labeled source samples to construct a model generalizable to the target domain. Although the primary purpose of DA is to compensate for the target domain's labeled data shortage, the concept of adaptation can be utilized to solve other problems.

One issue that may occur during adaptation is the problem of class misalignment, which would result in a negative transfer. Therefore, preventing negative transfer should be considered while designing DA methods. In addition, the sample availability in domains is another matter that should also be taken into account

Considering the two mentioned matters, this thesis aims to develop DA techniques to solve primary predictive maintenance problems.

This thesis considers a spectrum of cases with different amounts of available target data. One endpoint is the case in which we have access to enough labeled target samples for all classes. In this case, we use the concept of DA for 1) Analyzing two different physical properties, i.e., vibration and current, to measure their robustness for fault identification and 2) Developing a denoising method to construct a robust model for a noisy test environment.

Next, we consider the case where we have access to unlabeled and a few labeled target samples. Using the few labeled samples available, we aim to prevent negative transfer while adapting source and target domains. To achieve this, we construct a unified features representation using a few-shot and an adaptation learning technique.

Domain adaptation (DA) transfers In the subsequent considered setting, we assume we only have access to very few labeled target samples, which are insufficient to train a domain-specific model. Furthermore, for the first time have access to samples for specific classin the literature, we solve the DA for regression in a setting in which it adapts multiple domains with any arbitrary shift.

Licentiate exam



Zahra Taghiyarrenani

Sometimes, due to the dynamic nature of the environment, we need to update a model to reflect the changes continuously. An example is in the field of computer network security. There is always the possibility of intrusion into a computer network, which makes each Intrusion Detection System (IDS) subject to concept shifts. In addition, different types of intrusions may occur in different networks. This thesis presents a framework for handling concept shift in one single network through incremental learning and simultaneously adapting samples from different networks to transfer knowledge about various intrusions. In addition, we employ active learning to use expert knowledge to label the samples for the adaptation purpose.

During adaptation, all cases mentioned so far have the same label space for the source and target domains. Occasionally, this is not the case, and we do not es, either in the source or target; This is the final scenario addressed in this thesis.

One case is when we do not have access to some classes in the source domain. This setting is called Partial Domain Adaptation (PDA). This setting is beneficial to network traffic classification systems because, in general, every network has different types of applications and, therefore, different types of traffic. We develop a method for transferring knowledge from a source network to a target network even if the source network does not contain all types of traffic.

Another case is when we have access to unlabeled target samples but not for all classes. We call this Limited Domain Adaptation (LDA) setting and propose a DA method for fault identification. The motivation behind this setting is that for developing a fault identification model for a system, we don't want to wait until the occurrence of all faults for collecting even unlabeled samples; instead, we aim to use the knowledge about those faults from other domains.

We provide results on synthetic and real-world datasets for the scenarios mentioned above. Results indicate that the proposed methods outperform the state-of-art and are effective and practical in solving real-world problems.

For future works, we plan to extend the proposed methods to adapt domains with different input features, especially for solving predictive maintenance problems. Furthermore, we intend to extend our work to out-of-distribution learning methods, such as domain generalization.

Learning Representations for Machine Activity Recognition

Abstract

Machine activity recognition (MAR) is an essential and effective approach for equipment productivity monitoring. Developing MAR methods for forklift trucks, a vital piece of the industry, can benefit productivity efficiency, maintenance service, product design, and potential savings. With the growth of the Internet of Things, a large amount of sensory data has become accessible. Conventional MAR methods that have been developed primarily focus on data collected from external sensors, such as inertial measurement units (IMUs) and cameras. However, they are not effective for forklift applications: the IMU data does not reflect kinematic patterns due to a lack of large articulated parts, while the vision-based data collection requires many cameras to create sufficient coverage of an indoor environment, which, in result, risks the privacy and is less economical. Moreover, typical objectives in the existing MAR works are heavy equipment in construction sites where the working environment and tasks differ from the logistics sector. Therefore, it is necessary to develop intelligent and innovative approaches that are more suitable for forklift trucks.

Licentiate exam



Kunru Chen

This thesis demonstrates developing and utilizing representation learning methods to solve forklift MAR problems, based on the assumption that forklift activities are formed by a series of basic movements that can be detected from the onboard communication, i.e., signals in a Controller Area Network (CAN). Most of the methods proposed in this thesis incorporate semi-supervised techniques to deal with the limited



Toyota fork lift truck. Photo: Toyota material handling

amount of labeled data and to capitalize on a large amount of unlabeled data in our experiments. Deep neural networks are implemented to overcome different challenges of recognizing forklift activities and learn various representations of the data: i) learning invariant features to reconstruct input CAN signals by applying autoencoders, ii) learning discriminative features to recognize forklift activities by fine-tuning pre-training networks, and iii) learning temporal coherence to capture activity transitions by implementing gated recurrent units. Apart from achieving promising classification performance for forklift MAR problems, the representations obtained also support visualization and interpretability of the data as they are three-dimensional. Our ongoing works are new experiments about learning domain-invariant features, where domain adaptation methods are implemented to recognize activities performed by forklift trucks from different sites.

PhD Graduation Awais Ashfaq

Deep Evidential Doctor

Abstract

Recent years have witnessed an unparalleled surge in deep neural networks (DNNs) research, surpassing traditional machine learning and statistical methods on benchmark datasets in computer vision and natural language processing. Much of this success can be attributed to the availability of numerous open-source datasets, advanced computational resources and algorithms. These algorithms learn multiple levels of simple to complex abstractions (or representations) of data resulting in superior performances on downstream applications. This has led to an increasing interest in reaping the potential of DNNs in real-life safety-critical domains such as autonomous driving, security systems and healthcare. Each of them comes with their own set of complexities and requirements, thereby necessitating the development of new approaches to address domain-specific problems, even if building on common foundations.

In this thesis, we address data science related challenges involved in learning effective prediction models from structured electronic health records (EHRs). In particular, questions related to numerical representation of clinical concepts, sequential modelling of EHRs and quantifying prediction uncertainties are studied.

This is a compilation thesis including five articles. It begins by describing a healthcare information platform that encapsulates clinical, operational and financial data of patients across all public care units in Halland, Sweden. The thesis presents evidence that expert features are powerful predictors of adverse patient outcomes and are well complemented by clinical concept embeddings; gleaned via language modelling methods. In particular, a novel representation learning framework (KAFE: Knowledge And Frequency adapted Embeddings) is proposed that leverages medical knowledge schema and adversarial principles to learn high quality embeddings of both frequent and rare clinical concepts. In the context of sequential EHR modelling, an attention based hierarchical recurrent net is proposed that represents individual patients as weighted sums of ordered visits, where visits are, in turn, represented as weighted sums of unordered clinical concepts. In the context of uncertainty quantification and building trust in models, the field of deep evidential learning has been extended. In particular for multi-label tasks, simple extensions to current neural network architecture are proposed, coupled with a novel loss criterion to infer robust prediction uncertainties without compromising on accuracy. Moreover, analyzing the correlations learned by the model has also been an integral part of the research, to facilitate model transparency.

Put together, we develop Deep Evidential Doctor (DEED). DEED is a generic predictive model that learns efficient representations of patients and clinical concepts from EHRs and quantifies its confidence in individual predictions.

PhD Defense facts
Title:
Deep Evidential Doctor
Author
Awais Ashfaq
Supervisors at Halmstad University
Professor Slawomir Nowaczyk
Professor Mark Dougherty
Chairman of the defence:
Docent Kobra Etminani, Halmstad University
Opponent:
Associate Professor Cristina Soguero Ruiz,
Universidad Rey Juan Carlos, Spain.
Examination Board:
Prof. Myra Spiliopoulou, Otto-von-Guericke-Univ. Germany
Prof. Ricard Gavalda, Univ. Politècnica de Catalunya, Spain
Professor Martin Atzmüller, Osnabrück Univ. Germany

Better care at a lower cost by using data

With a growing elderly population, many chronic conditions are increasing rapidly in our society. These conditions, for example cancer, dementia, diabetes, and heart diseases, as well as the rising numbers of mental health disorders, are both challenging and resource-intensive for the healthcare system. To meet this, healthcare organizations must improve the quality of care and, at the same time, reduce costs.

"There are several initiatives in Sweden with the goal to develop healthcare by using artificial intelligence. What is notable in Halland is that we work with real world data in sharp research projects where we collaborate across organizations and disciplines", says Markus Lingman, Medical Doctor and Strategist on the Halland Hospital board and Adjunct Professor of Medicine at Halmstad University.

"This collaboration between Region Halland and Halmstad University has broken new ground – we are already contributing to the necessary shift of our healthcare system to become more information driven. It is time to move up the cognitive pyramid! Let the computers do what they are best at, and humans what we are best at", says Markus Lingman.



Markus Lingman is a Medical Doctor and Strategist on the Halland Hospital board and Adjunct Professor of Medicine at Halmstad University.

Information from today's patients can help prevent future diseases

Information-driven care is where artificial intelligence (AI) is applied to data collected within healthcare organizations. Machine learning algorithms can find patterns in large amounts of data and predict outcomes. This information can be used by clinicians to decide on what is the best care and to enable early disease detection and prevention. The management of healthcare providers can also use the models to optimize resources without compromising the quality of care.

"The machine learning models that we develop can be used to predict patient outcomes. Most often, we are interested in predicting adverse outcomes so that necessary actions can be taken to avoid or prepare for them. An adverse outcome can, e.g., be disease onset, hospital readmission, or death", says Awais Ashfaq.

Deep learning and readmission for heart failure patients

One of the articles in Awais Ashfaq's thesis shows the result of a hospital readmission prediction study for patients with heart failure, using deep neural network models. Typically, one out of four patients in this patient group is readmitted within 30 days of discharge. Being readmitted poses a significant health risk for the patient due to hospital-acquired infections and clinical errors. Readmissions also lead to increased care costs for the healthcare system. To reduce readmissions, targeted intervention programs must be initiated for high-risk patients. Awais Ashfaq and the other researchers used data from 7500 heart failure patients in Halland to identify high-risk patients.

"The results of this study will contribute to the gradual and safe adoption of artificial intelligence in the clinical setting", says Markus Lingman, one of Awais Ashfaq's supervisors during his PhD research. Professor Slawomir Nowaczyk was Awais Ashfaq's principal supervisor: "From a data science and machine learning point of view, this study is specifically interesting since it combines deep theoretical and algorithmic developments in the field of artificial intelligence with practical and impactful considerations from direct interactions with the healthcare system. Awais has made strong contributions towards how machine learning algorithms can represent the data and the knowledge, quantify uncertainty, and deal with surprising situations. At the same time, the work is very well anchored with clinicians within Region Halland, and motivated by real challenges", says Slawomir Nowaczyk.

Next step is explainability

Awais Ashfaq has collaborated with several researchers during his PhD, mainly from Halmstad University, Region Halland, Lund University, Harvard Medical School, Brigham Women's Hospital, and the companies Novartis and AstraZeneca. A concrete research result is the development of a generic prediction model called Deep Evidential Doctor (DEED). The model learns representations of clinical concepts and patient trajectories from EHRs for personalized predictions, along with robust and reliable confidence estimates.

"While the prediction scores facilitate identification of patient risk groups, the confidence estimates support user-trust in these prediction models by allowing us to understand when they say, 'I don't know'. Thus, if need be, design redundancy into their applications to avoid dubious predictions", says Awais Ashfaq.

"For future works, we aim to extend the DEED framework to incorporate wider data modalities such as clinical notes, signals, and daily lifestyle information. We will also work to equip DEED with explainability features to enhance the acceptance in real clinical practice", says Awais Ashfaq.

PhD Graduation Ece Calikus

Together We Learn More: Algorithms and Applications for User-Centric Anomaly Detection



Anomaly detection is the problem of identifying data points or patterns that do not conform to normal behavior. Anomalies in data often correspond to important and actionable information such as frauds in financial applications, faults in production units, intrusions in computer systems, and serious diseases in patient records. One of the fundamental challenges of anomaly detection is that the exact notion of anomaly is subjective and varies greatly in different applications and domains. This makes distinguishing anomalies that match with the end-user's expectations from other observations difficult. As a result, anomaly detectors produce many false alarms that do not correspond to semantically meaningful anomalies for the analyst.

Humans can help, in different ways, to bridge this gap between detected anomalies and "anomalies-of-interest": by giving clues on features more likely to reveal interesting anomalies or providing feedback to separate them from irrelevant ones. However, it is not realistic to assume a human to easily provide feedback without explaining why the algorithm classifies a certain sample as an anomaly. Interpretability of results is crucial for an analyst to be able to investigate the candidate anomaly and decide whether it is actually interesting or not.

In this thesis, we take a step forward to improve the practical use of anomaly detection in real-life by leveraging human-algorithm collaboration. This thesis and appended papers study the problem of formulating and implementing algorithms for user-centric anomaly detection-- a setting in which people analyze, interpret, and learn from the detector's results, as well as provide domain knowledge or feedback. Throughout this thesis, we have described a number of diverse approaches, each addressing different challenges and needs of user-centric anomaly detection in the real world, and combined these methods into a coherent framework. By conducting different studies, this thesis finds that a comprehensive approach incorporating human knowledge and providing interpretable results can lead to more effective and practical anomaly detection and more successful real-world applications. The major contributions that result from the studies included in this work and led the above conclusion can be summarized into five categories: (1) exploring different data representations that are suitable for anomaly detection based on data characteristics and domain knowledge, (2) discovering patterns and groups in data that describe normal behavior in the current application, (3) implementing a generic and extensible framework enabling use-case-specific detectors suitable for different scenarios, (4) incorporating domain knowledge and expert feedback into anomaly detection, and (5) producing interpretable detection results that support end-users in understanding and validating the anomalies.

PhD Defense facts

Title:
Together We Learn More: Algorithms and Applica-
tions for User-Centric Anomaly Detection
Author
Ece Calikus
Supervisor at Halmstad University
Professor Slawomir Nowaczyk
Chairman of the defence:
Professor Urban Persson, Halmstad University
Opponent:
Associate Professor, Evgeny Burnaev, Skoltech, Moscow, Russia
Examination Board:
Associate Professor, Indre Zliobaite, Univ of Helsinki, Finland
Professor Jesse Davis, KU Leuven, Belgium
Professor Jesse Read, École Polytechnique, France

Human-machine collaboration **30** improves the detection of *anomalies*

When a deviation in a data set is found, it can implicate that something is wrong. It can, for example, be a machine part that does not work, a computer intrusion or a first sign of illness. By combining human knowledge and machine learning, the detection of anomalies will become more efficient and improved

"In data science, anomaly detection is the identification of rare events and observations in a data set that significantly differs from the majority of the data. User-centric anomaly detection plays a key role in making data-driven anomaly detection approaches more effective and practical in real-world applications. My research shows a comprehensive approach enabling human-machine collaboration and where the parts learn from each other. This can significantly improve anomaly detection performance and its practical use in a specific application domain, for example, district heating."

"In our research, we focus on designing and evaluating algorithms for user-centric anomaly detection in which people investigate, interpret and learn from the detectors' results, and then themselves provide domain knowledge or feedback to the system."

Where can anomalies be found?

"Anomalies can be found in different areas and situations that affect our daily lives. They can, for example, be intrusions in data systems, finance fraud, faults or breaks in production units, diseases or conditions in medical diagnostics." **problematic?** "All types of abnormal observations are not equally interesting to the end-user. For example, anomalies such as abnormally high temperatures can be recorded occasionally in a domestic hot water heat-pump system due to disinfecting pipes from Legionella bacteria. In that case, the deviation is normal and not very interesting for an analyst looking for actual faults in the hot water system, such as compressor faults in the pumps."

"The large gap between detected anomalous behaviours and 'anomalies of interest' can produce many false alarms and easily render anomaly detection unusable in practice. Human domain knowledge plays an essential role in bridging this gap. For example, an analyst might give clues to create more likely features to indicate interesting anomalies or provide feedback to separate them from irrelevant ones." It sounds like humans and machines

It sounds like humans and machines must work together to create more accurate and efficient ways to detect deviations. Can you tell us more about this?

"After the anomalies in the data are identified, human experts typically investigate them for root cause analysis, troubleshooting, or action planning. As shown in the previous example, one cannot automatically schedule repair without knowing the anomaly is caused by a compressor failure, not by killing bacteria. Interpretability of the detected outliers, which provides reasons for abnormal behaviours, can significantly reduce the effort of such manual inspections."





Can anomaly detection be

You have also focused on contextual anomaly detection. What is that and how can it be helpful?

"With contextual anomaly detection, we want to identify abnormal objects that might be disguised as normal within specific contexts. For example, high energy consumption in a heating system during summer is abnormal, while the same consumption level can be totally normal in winter. We try to provide context-based explanations of anomalies that can explain what makes an object stand out as deviating. Such explanations can help characterize and interpret different types of anomalies and normal groups."

"With anomaly detectors, we want to effectively separate rare and unusual observations from the majority. However, the rare data instances reported as anomalies may cause discrimination against the minority groups existing in the data. For example, surveillance applications designed to detect criminal activities can be racially biased if the detection heavily relies on humans' appearance. Additional information on what makes certain behaviour stand out enables us to discover biased decisions of the algorithms and improve algorithmic fairness."

How does your research contribute to the development of society?

"The user-centric anomaly detection helps us to distinguish anomalies better. Furthermore, improving the work for the interpretability of detection results allows end-users to validate the algorithm's performance and facilitate trust in the anomaly detection system. This is especially important for data sets that include sensitive features such as sex, ethnicity or age."

PhD Graduation Shiraz Farouq

Towards conformal methods for large-scale monitoring of district heating substations



Abstract

Increasing technical complexity, design variations, and customization options of IoT units create difficulties for the construction of monitoring infrastructure. These units can be associated with different domains, such as a fleet of vehicles in the mobility domain and a fleet of heat-pumps in the heating domain. The lack of labeled datasets and well-understood prior unit and fleet behavior models exacerbates the problem. Moreover, the time-series nature of the data makes it difficult to strike a reasonable balance between precision and detection delay. The thesis aims to develop a framework for scalable and cost-efficient monitoring of industrial fleets. The investigations were conducted on real-world operational data obtained from District Heating (DH) substations to detect anomalous behavior and faults. A foundational hypothesis of the thesis is that fleet-level models can mitigate the lack of labeled datasets, improve anomaly detection performance, and achieve a scalable monitoring alternative.

Our preliminary investigations found that operational heterogeneity among the substations in a DH network can cause fleet-level models to be inefficient in detecting anomalous behavior at the target units. An alternative is to rely on subfleet-level models to act as a proxy for the behavior of target units. However, the main difficulty in constructing a subfleet-level model is the selection of its members such that their behavior is stable over time and representative of the target unit. Therefore, we investigated various ways of constructing the subfleets and estimating their stability. To mitigate the lack of well-understood prior unit and fleet behavior models, we proposed constructing Unit-Level and Subfleet-Level Ensemble Models, i.e., ULEM and SLEM. Herein, each member of the respective ensemble consists of a Conformal Anomaly Detector (CAD). Each ensemble yields a nonconformity score matrix that provides information about the behavior of a target unit relative to its historical data and its subfleet, respectively. However, these ensemble models can give different information about the nature of an anomaly that may not always agree with each other. Therefore, we further synthesized this information by proposing a Combined Ensemble Model (CEM). We investigated the advantages and limitations of decisions that rely on the information obtained from ULEM, SLEM, and CEM using precision and detection delay. We observed the decisions that relied on the information obtained through CEM showed a reduction in overall false alarms compared to those obtained through ULEM or SLEM, albeit at the cost of some detection delay. Finally, we combined the components of ULEM, SLEM, and CEM into what we refer to as TRAN-TOR: a conformal anomaly detection based indusTRiAl fleet moNiTORing framework. The proposed framework is expected to enable fleet operators in various domains to improve their monitoring infrastructure by efficiently detecting anomalous behavior and controlling false alarms at the target units.

PhD Defense facts	
Title:	
Towards conformal methods for large-scale	e monitor-
ing of district heating substations	5
Author	
Shiraz Farouq	
Supervisors at Halmstad University	
Associate professor Stefan Byttner	
Associate professor Mohamed-Rafik Bougu	elia
Associate professor Henrik Gadd	
Chairman of the defence:	
Professor Mark Dougherty	
Opponent:	
Assistant Professor Harris Papadopoulus, Frederick	University
Examination Board:	
Professor Ulf Johansson, Jönköping Univer	sity
Associate professor Kerstin Sernhed, Lund Uni	iversity
Professor Håkan Grahn, Blekinge Institute of Te	chnology

Monitoring district heating substations important to the future smart city

Ineffective and incorrect behavior of district heating sub-"While technical tools, such as machine learning, are imporstations causes unnecessary energy loss. In his recently tant in solving the problem of energy inefficiency in district published thesis, Shiraz Faroug proposes the use of modheating, they are not the only solution. We need to pair the els based on statistical and machine learning techniques technical tools with insights from industry through active as a possible solution to the problem. In this way, the collaboration", says Shiraz Farouq, who has worked together substations can be monitored, irregular patterns can be with the Swedish power company Öresundskraft. identified, and operationally ineffective substations can be "The largest amount of data for the research comes from detected, without overwhelming their operators with nu-Öresundskraft. In addition, valuable insights from both data merous false alarms.

Traditionally, district heating substations are monitored by constructing models based on the individual substation's historical data. In his research, Shiraz Farouq found that observing other operationally similar substations' behaviour is also important.

"Substations in a district heating network can be thought of in terms of a fleet, where operationally similar substations constitute sub fleets. Therefore, we developed models based on the idea of collective monitoring, where the behaviour of each substation in a network is tracked by a sub fleet of other similar substations. Any substation that does not behave in accordance with its tracking sub fleet provides a basis to believe that something is wrong", he explains.

Framework to reduce false alarms

One of the observations that Shiraz Farouq made was that models based on historical behaviour and the tracking of sub fleets have their strengths and weaknesses. A framework based on a combination model was presented as a remedy to this.

"By fusing the two model constructs, it is possible to reduce false alarms without compromising too much on the detectability of anomalous patterns. We believe that this framework can be adapted to the requirements of various other industrial setups where fleets of units or machines are a common occurrence", says Shiraz Farouq. "The research will hopefully lead to more efficient ways of using district heating. It contributes to increased sustainability, cost efficiency, and the development of future smart cities. Energy efficiency is one of the important objectives in the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals for 2030. In this context, the research has a positive impact on the environment, economy, and society."

Findings relevant for the future smart city

Shiraz Farouq's results can not only be applied to the field of district heating, but also to areas that are important for future smart cities, for instance, robotics in industries, truck platoons, wind farming, and substations in electric-utility networks. "The largest amount of data for the research comes from Öresundskraft. In addition, valuable insights from both data and discussion with domain experts were obtained from the company Halmstad energi och miljö. Moreover, Halmstad University cooperates with the Smart Energy Collaboration wihtin Disitrict Heating and Cooling, which is a collaboration between various district heating utilities and universities across Sweden. The research work was presented at this forum, and valuable insights were obtained on possibilities and challenges in deploying data-driven approaches at district heating utilities", he explains.

Research that makes a positive impact

Shiraz Farouq joined Halmstad University as a PhD student back in 2016, and before that he got a master's degree in Computational Science at Uppsala University.

"I chose Halmstad University because of its position as an innovation-driven university that aims to contribute towards the betterment of society by solving practical problems in industries and public services", he says.

The strive to contribute to a better society is also clear in Shiras Farouq's research goals:

Shiraz Farouq now hopes to apply his findings to an industry setting.

"The very reason I chose to pursue doctoral studies was to acquire skills to deal with today's complex and challenging problems from both the philosophical as well as the scientific point of view. I believe these skills will enable me to make a positive impact in the world", he sums up.

PhD Graduation Pablo Del Moral

Hierarchical Methods for Self-Monitoring Systems: Theory and Application

Abstract

Self-monitoring solutions first appeared to avoid catastrophic breakdowns in safety-critical mechanisms. The design behind these solutions relied heavily on the physical knowledge of the mechanism and its fault. They usually involved installing specialized sensors to monitor the state of the mechanism and statistical modeling of the recorded data. Mainly, these solutions focused on specific components of a machine and rarely considered more than one type of fault.

In our work, on the other hand, we focus on self-monitoring of complex machines, systems composed of multiple components performing heterogeneous tasks and interacting with each other: systems with many possible faults. Today, the data available to monitor these machines is vast but usually lacks the design and specificity to monitor each possible fault in the system accurately. Some faults will show distinctive symptoms in the data; some faults will not; more interestingly, there will be groups of faults with common symptoms in the recorded data.

The thesis in this manuscript is that we can exploit the similarities between faults to train machine learning models that can significantly improve the performance of self-monitoring solutions for complex systems that overlook these similarities. We choose to encode these similarity relationships into hierarchies of faults, which we use to train hierarchical supervised models. We use both real-life problems and standard benchmarks to prove the adequacy of our approach on tasks like fault diagnosis and fault prediction.

We also demonstrate that models trained on different hierarchies result in significantly different performances. We analyze what makes a good hierarchy and what are the best practices to develop methods to extract hierarchies of classes from the data. We advance the state-of-the-art by defining the concept of heterogeneity of decision boundaries and studying how it affects the performance of different class decompositions.

PhD Defense facts
Title:
Hierarchical Methods for Self-Monitoring Systems:
Theory and Application
Author
Pablo José Del Moral Pastor
Supervisors at Halmstad University
Professor Sławomir Nowaczyk
Senior Lecturer Sepideh Pashami
Chairman of the defence:
Mattias Ohlsson, Halmstad University
Opponent:
Professor Niklas Lavesson Blekinge Institute of Technology
Examination Board:
Prof Carlos Silla, Pontificial Catholic Univ of Parana, Brazil
Prof César Ferri, Universitat Politècnica de València, Spain
Assoc Prof Azin Ebrahimi, KTH, Sweden

Collaboration between Halmstad University and Getinge Sterilization AB

Halmstad University and Getinge Sterilization AB, which creates sterilisers that are used for sterilising hospital equipment, have been collaborating for many years. In 2020, they began a ten year long strategic collaboration agreement, and together the parties want to promote development within research, innovation and education with a specific focus on digitalisation. The aim is to find solutions for different societal challenges within the health area.

Safer healthcare with smart systems

Self-monitoring systems were originally developed to avoid catastrophic machine breakdowns but required that you knew about the mechanics and the specific error you wanted to avoid. In his PhD thesis, Pablo del Moral has researched so called hierarchical methods for self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types of errors in hospital equipment Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types of errors in hospital equipment Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types of errors in hospital equipment Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types of errors in hospital equipment Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types of errors in hospital equipment Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types of errors in hospital equipment Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types of errors in hospital equipment Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types of errors in hospital equipment Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types of errors in hospital equipment Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types of errors in hospital equipment Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types of errors in hospital equipment Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types of errors in hospital equipment Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types of errors in hospital equipment Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types of errors in hospital equipment Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types of errors in hospital equipment Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types Self-monitoring systems. The aim is to able to predict more types Self-monitoring systems.

Self-monitoring systems avoid catastrophic breakdowns

Solutions with self-monitoring systems were originally developed to avoid catastrophic breakdowns in safety-critical mechanisms. The design relied on sensors and required that you knew about the mechanics and the specific error you wanted to avoid. In his research, Pablo del Moral instead focuses on self-monitoring of complex machines – in this case sterilisers used by hospitals to sterilise medical instruments – that are composed of multiple components where a great number of different errors can occur.

There are currently many models that monitor complex machines, but they often lack the ability to correctly monitor all specific problems that could occur in the system. What Pablo del Moral's research contributes to is identifying symptoms of ongoing faults in the available data. These symptoms are then used to identify which specific fault that is occurring and when this fault will result in a machine failure.

"Some faults will show distinctive symptoms in the data, and some faults will not. More interestingly, there will be groups of faults with common symptoms in the recorded data", says Pablo del Moral.

Exploiting similarities between errors improve performance

Pablo del Moral's thesis is that you can teach the machine learning models to exploit the similarities between different faults to improve the performance of self-monitoring systems. In his research, he has chosen to encode these similarities into hierarchies of faults.



Improvements lead to increased security

When Pablo del Moral is asked whether he is particularly surprised by any result, he replies:

"When doing fault prognoses in complex systems, the right hierarchy of errors can improve the overall performance significantly. In particular, it allows for some types of errors to be predicted that could not have been otherwise. In that way, the improvement of the technology behind self-monitoring systems leads to machines with better performance, security and reliability."



Getinge Disinfection Washer Photo: Getinge AB

CAISR Staff Researchers





Bifet, Albert Prof., Doctor

Visiting Professor machine learning albert@albertbifet.com

Data Streams, Artificial Intelligence, Machine Learning, Big Data.

Bigun, Josef

Prof., Doctor Professor signal analysis josef.bigun@hh.se

Computer Vision, human vision, pattern recognition, biometrics, image processing, signal analysis, machine learning, AI

Byttner, Stefan

Prof., Doctor Professor Information Technology stefan.byttner@hh.se

Self-organizing algorithms, interestingness measures of patterns and joint human-machine learning.

Dougherty, Mark

Prof., Doctor Professor Information Technology mark.dougherty@hh.se

Acoustic analysis, smart sensors, medical informatics, decision support systems, forensic science, ethics of AI



Englund, Cristofer Docent, Doctor

Adjunct Professor cristofer.englund@hh.se Machine learning for automated driving, vehicular behavioral modeling, connected vehicles,

Lingman, Markus

situation awareness.

MD, PhD Adjunct Professor markus.lingman@hh.se

Information driven care

Nowaczyk, Sławomir

Prof., Doctor Professor machine learning slawomir.nowaczyk@hh.se

Data Mining, knowledge representation, joint humanmachine learning, self-organising anomaly detection, big data.

Ohlsson, Mattias

Prof., Doctor Professor machine learning mattias.ohlsson@hh.se

Machine learning, neural networks, information-driven care

Rögnvaldsson, Thorsteinn

Prof., Doctor Professor computer science thorsteinn.rognvaldsson@hh.se

Neural networks, self-organizing models, predictive maintenance.

Strömsten, Torkel

Prof., Doctor Visiting Professor torkel.stromsten@hh.se

Managment Accounting and control. Organizational consequences of Digitalization. Sustainability and innovation.

Verikas, Antanas

Honorary Professor, Doctor Professor pattern recognition antanas.verikas@hh.se

Classification committees, feature selection; semi-supervised learning, fuzzy logic, analysis of pathological speech.

Vinel, Alexey

Prof., Doctor Prof. comp. communications alexey.vinel@hh.se

Wireless communications, vehicular networking, smart mobility.













Abuella, Mohamed

Doctor Postdoc mohamed.abuella@hh.se

Energy Informatics, Smart Grid, Machine Learning, Deep Learning

Alawadi, Sadi

Doctor Assistant Professor sadi.alawadi@hh.se

Big data, Federated Machine learning, Deep learning, IOT, Transfer learning and interactive learning, Dimensional reduction

Alonso-Fernandez, Fernando

Docent, Doctor Associate professor fernando.alonso-fernandez@hh.se Biometr. recogn., image/signal proc., comp. vision, machine learning and pattern recognition.

Ashfaq, Awais

awais.ashfaq@hh.se

Atoui, Amine

amine.atoui@hh.se

Machine learning, Health

informatics, Information driven

Doctor

care

Doctor

Researcher

Researcher







Statistical and Explainable ML, Causal and Bayesian inference, Transmission/ Communication and Automatic Control

Bouguelia, Mohamed-Rafik

Docent, Doctor Associate Professor mohamed-rafik.bouguelia@hh.se

Active learning; classification; data stream mining; anomaly and novelty detection; big data; pred. maintenance.









Calikus, Ece

Doctor Postdoc ece.calikus@hh.se

Data Mining, big data, predictive maintenance, deviation detection, joint human-machine learning.

Cerna, Katerina

Doctor Assistant Professor katerina.cerna@hh.se

Participatory design, Learning, Co-design with plants, HCI and Sustainability, Wellbeing

Clarin, Magnus

Doctor Dean, School of ITE magnus.clarin@hh.se

Health technology, e-health, data mining, applied physics, signal analysis.

Cooney, Martin

Doctor Associate Professor martin.cooney@hh.se

Social robotics, recognition, humanrobot interaction, well-being

del Moral, Pablo

Doctor Doctoral student pablo.del_moral@hh.se

Machine learning, predictive maintenance, survival analysis, time series analysis, data stream mining.

Dikmen, Onur

Doctor Senior Lecturer onur.dikmen@hh.se

Statistical machine learning, change-point and outlier detection, predictive maintenance, causal inference















Erdal Aksoy, Eren

Docent, Doctor Associate Professor eren.aksoy@hh.se

Etminani, Kobra

kobra.etminani@hh.se

Data Mining, Healthcare

informatics, anomaly detection,

Docent, Doctor

Associate Professor

Fan, Yuantao

yuantao.fan@hh.se

Computer Vision, Cognitive Robotics, Machine Learning, Imitation Learning, and Autonomous Systems



Docent, Doctor

Assistant professor hadi.fanaee@hh.se Data Mining, Machine Learning, Tensor Analysis, Anomaly Detection, Time series Analysis, Spatio-temporal Data Mining

Ghareh Baghi, Arash

Docent, Doctor Researcher arash.ghareh-baghi@hh.se

Researcher on AI, ML, and DL for different fields of biomedical engineering and health applications

Ghazawneh, Ahmad

Doctor Associate Professor ahmad.ghazawneh@hh.se

Information Systems, Digital Innovation, Fintech and Blockchain

Hashemi, Atiye Sadat

Doctor Postdoc atiye-sadat.hashemi@hh.se

-Deep learning, adversarial machine learning, generative models, information-driven care

Järpe, Eric

Doctor Senior lecturer eric.jarpe@hh.se

Change-point and outlier detection, smart homes monitoring, communication security, cryptology.

Khoshkangini, Reza

Doctor Researcher reza.khoshkangini@hh.se

Artificial intelligence, machine learning, data mining and decision making

Lundström, Jens

Doctor Senior Lecturer

jens.r.lundstrom@hh.se

Decentralized Learning, Healthcare informatics

Mashhadi, Peyman

Doctor Senior Lecturer peyman.mashhadi@hh.se

Statistical Machine Learning, Deep Learning, Data Mining, Predictive Maintenance

Pashami, Sepideh

Doctor Senior lecturer sepideh.pashami@hh.se

Predictive maintenance, causal inference, representation learning, machine learning, data mining.















Rahat, Mahmoud

Doctor Assistant Professor mahmoud.rahat@hh.se

Machine Learning, Predictive Maintenance, Natural Language Processing

Rajabi, Enayat

Doctor Researcher enayat.rajabi@hh.se Knowledge Graphs, Machine Learning, Big Data Analytics

Sarmadi, Hamid

Doctor Postdoc hamid.sarmadi@hh.se

Explainable Predictive Maintenance, Applied Machine Learning, Computer Vision

Soliman, Amira



Big data, Graph analytics, Federated and decentralized learning, Deep learning, Healthcare informatics

Tiwari, Prayag

Doctor Assistant Professor prayag.tiwari@hh.se

Artificial Intelligence, Quantum Machine Learning, Neural Networks.

Kanwal, Summrina

Doctor Researcher summrina.wajid@hh.se

Machine Learning/ Deep Learning in the field of Traffic Data Analysis, Clinical Decision Support Systems, Data Science



Anomaly detection, unsupervised learning, data mining, predictive maintenance.

Doctor

Researcher

big data.

Fanaee, Hadi

















Wickström, Nicholas

Docent, Doctor Associate professor nicholas.wickstrom@hh.se Signal analysis of human motion, incorporateing expert knowledge in the modelling, and making models possible to interpret.

Wärnestål, Pontus

Docent, Doctor Associate Professor pontus.warnestal@hh.se

Digital Service Innovation, Service Design, UX Design, Informatics, Human-Computer Interaction.

Åstrand, Björn

Docent, Doctor Associate professor bjorn.astrand@hh.se

Mechatronics, perception, mobile robots, semantic mapping, AGV/ truck safety.







PhD Students







M.Sc. Doctoral student abdallah.alabdallah@hh.se

Machine Learning, Data Mining, Survival Analysis, Deep Learning, Representation Learning, Explainable AI

Ali Hamad, Rebeen

Lic. Tech. Doctoral student rebeen.ali_hamad@hh.se

Transfer Learning, manifold learning, human behavior patterns, smart homes.

Altarabichi, Mohammed Ghaith

M.Sc. Doctoral student mohammed_ghaith.altarabichi@hh.se

Machine Learning, Transfer Learning, Representation Learning, Evolutionary Computation

Amirahmadi, Ali

M.Sc. Doctoral student ali.amirahmadi@hh.se

machine learning, deep learning, medical informatics, Time series modelling



Budu, Emmanuella

M.Sc Doctoral student emmanuella.budu@hh.se

Machine Learning, Health Informatics, Predictive Analytics.



Chen, Kunru

Lic. Tech. Doctoral student kunru.chen@hh.se

Usage Analysis, Activity Recognition, Learning Representation, Semi-supervised Learning

Cortinhal, Tiago

M.Sc. Doctoral student tiago.cortinhal@hh.se

Computer Vision, Sensor Fusion, Adversarial Networks, Scene Understanding

David, Jennifer

M.Sc. Doctoral student jennifer.david@hh.se

Mobile robotics, intelligent vehicles, multi-robots, path planning, task scheduling.

Galozy, Alexander

Lic. Tech Doctoral Student alexander.galozy@hh.se

Data mining, machine learning, reinforcement learning, deep neural networks, predictive health

Hernandez Diaz, Kevin

M.Sc. Doctoral student kevin.hernandez-diaz@hh.se

Computer Vision, biometrics, pattern recognition, machine learning, image processing, signal analysis

Gouigah, Idriss

M.Sc. Doctoral student idriss.gouigah@hh.se

Computer vision, Sensor Fusion, **Object** Detection

Jamshidi, Samaneh

M.Sc. Doctoral student samaneh.jamshidi@hh.se

Machine Learning, Explainable AI, Predictive Maintenance, Survival analysis

















M.Sc. Industrial Doctoral student magnus.lowenadler@hh.se

Machine learning, predictive maintenance, federated learning

Raisuddin, Abu Mohammed

M.Sc. Doctoral Student abu-mohammed.raisuddin@hh.se

Deep Learning, Machine Learning, Semantic Perception

Rosberg, Felix



Generative models, AI-based Image manipulation, AIbased anonymization, feature interpretation, identity swap



Ph D students at the School of Information Technology, Halmstad University, during the annual Ph D concerence.



Taghiyarrenani, Zahra

Lic. Tech. Doctoral student zahra.taghiyarrenani@hh.se

Predictive Maintenance, Transfer Learning, Neural Networks

Martin Torstensson

M.Sc. Industrial Doctoral student martin.torstensson@ri.se

Explainable machine learning, driver behavior modeling, predictive machine learning

Vettoruzzo, Anna

M.Sc. Doctoral student anna.vettoruzzo@hh.se

Machine Learning, Meta-Learning, Multi-Task Learning, Domain Adaptation







Lecturers, technical and administrative personnel



Burgos, Jonathan

Carlsson, Roger

Research Engineer

nils_roger.carlsson@hh.se

Neural networks, Machine

van Esch, Johannes

johannes.van_esch@hh.se

Data management, Software

Development, Intelligent systems,

smart homes, embedded systems

Research Engineer

B.Sc.

Learning

B.Sc.

M.Sc.

M.Sc.

learning

PhD Research Coordinator jonathan.burgos@hh.se

Research support; Internal/External relations and communication; Competence development







informatics, deep learning, and explainable AI.

Data mining, healthcare

Holmblad, Jesper

jesper.holmblad@hh.se

Computer vision, data mining,

robotic integration, machine

Research Engineer

Hamed, Omar

Research Engineer

omar.hamedhh.se





Li, Yurong

M.Sc. Research Engineer yurong.li@hh.se

Anomaly Detection, Deep Learning, Explainable AI

Munther, Thomas

M.Sc. Lecturer thomas.munther@hh.se

Electronics, Electronics Design and Implementation, Control Theory, Electrical Power Systems, Electrical Machines and Drives

Recena Menezes, Maria Luiza

M.Sc. Research engineer maria.menezes@hh.se

Intelligent systems, smart homes, BCI, affective computing, signal analysis, data mining, machine learning.

Salomonsson, Tommy

M.Sc. Lecturer tommy.salomonsson@hh.se

Mechatronics with focus on embedded systems and actuators. Autonomous mechatronic systems.

Thörner, Roland

M.Sc. Coordinator roland.thorner@hh.se

Research support; Internal and external relations, funding, agreements, reports.

Wandel, Louise

M.Sc. Project Manager louise.wandel@hh.se

Communications, project mangement











CAISR Publications 2018-2022

JOURNAL PAPERS

2022

Alkhabbas, F., et al. (2022). ASSERT: A Blockchain-Based Architectural Approach for Engineering Secure Self-Adaptive IoT Systems. Sensors, 22(18).

Alkharabsheh, K., et al. (2022). Prioritization of good class design smell : A multi-criteria based approach. Journal of King Saud University - Computer and Information Sciences, 34, 9332–9342.

Alonso-Fernandez, F., et al. (2022). Cross-sensor periocular biometrics in a global pandemic : Comparative benchmark and novel multialgorithmic approach. Information Fusion, 83–84, 110–130.

Amador Molina, O., Aramrattana, M., & Vinel, A. (2022). A Survey on Remote Operation of Road Vehicles. IEEE Access, 10, 130135–130154

Aramrattana, M., et al. (2022). A Simulation Study on Effects of Platooning Gaps on Drivers of Conventional Vehicles in Highway Merging Situations. IEEE Trans Intelligent Transportation Systems, 23(4), 3790–3796.

Aslam, M. S., et al. (2022). Observer–Based Control for a New Stochastic Maximum Power Point tracking for Photovoltaic Systems With Networked Control System. IEEE Trans Fuzzy Systems (Epub)

Baiocchi, A., Turcanu, I., & Vinel, A. (2022). Age of Information in CSMA-based Networks with Bursty Update Traffic. IEEE Access, 10, 44088–44105.

Bergström, E., & Wärnestål, P. (2022). Exploring the Design Context of AI-Powered Services : A Qualitative Investigation of Designers' Experiences with Machine Learning. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, 13336, 3–21.

Calikus, E., et al. (2022). Wisdom of the contexts : active ensemble learning for contextual anomaly detection. Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery, 36, 2410–2458.

Chen, K., et al. (2022). Semi-Supervised Learning for Forklift Activity Recognition from Controller Area Network (CAN) Signals. Sensors, 22(11).

David, J., et al. (2022). Deterministic annealing with Potts neurons for multi-robot routing. Intelligent Service Robotics, 15(3), 321–334.



- Del Moral, P., Nowaczyk, S., & Pashami, S. (2022). Why Is Multiclass Classification Hard? IEEE Access, 10, 80448–80462.
- Delooz, Q., et al. (2022). Analysis and Evaluation of Information Redundancy Mitigation for V2X Collective Perception. IEEE Access, 10, 47076–47093.
- Deng, D., et al. (2022). Reinforcement Learning Based Optimization on Energy Efficiency in UAV Networks for IoT. IEEE Internet of Things Journal (Epub)
- Ding, Y., et al. (2022). Shared subspace-based radial basis function neural network for identifying ncRNAs subcellular localization. Neural Networks, 156, 170–178.
- Etminani, K., et al. (2022). A 3D deep learning model to predict the diagnosis of dementia with Lewy bodies, Alzheimer's disease, and mild cognitive impairment using brain 18F-FDG PET. European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging, 49(2), 563–584.
- Fabricius, V., et al. (2022). Interactions Between Heavy Trucks and Vulnerable Road Users – A Systematic Review to Inform the Interactive Capabilities of Highly Automated Trucks. Frontiers in Robotics and AI, 9.
- Farouq, S., et al. (2022). A conformal anomaly detection based industrial fleet monitoring framework : A case study in district heating. Expert Systems with Applications, 201.
- Guo, X., et al. (2022). Random Fourier features-based sparse representation classifier for identifying DNA-bind-ing proteins. Computers in Biology and Medicine, 151.
- Hall, O., Ohlsson, M., & Rögnvaldsson, T. (2022). A review of explainable AI in the satellite data, deep machine learning, and human poverty domain. Patterns, 3(10).
- Hashemi, A. S., Mozaffari, S., & Alirezaee, S. (2022). Improving adversarial robustness of traffic sign image recognition networks. Displays (Guildford), 74.
- Hedman, P., et al. (2022). On the effect of selfie beautification filters on face detection and recognition. Pattern Recognition Letters, 163, 104–111.
- Jannu, S., et al. (2022). Energy Efficient Quantum-Informed Ant Colony Optimization Algorithms for Industrial Internet of Things. IEEE Trans Artificial Intelligence, 1–10.

Jendle, J., et al. (2022). Patterns and Predictors Associated With Long-Term Glycemic Control in Pediatric and Young Adult Patients with Type 1 Diabetes. J Diabetes Sci Technology (Epub)

Lakhan, A., et al. (2022). Blockchain-Enabled Cybersecurity Efficient IIOHT Cyber-Physical System for Medical Applications. IEEE Trans Network Science and Engineering, 1–14.

Li, P., et al. (2022). Sparse regularized joint projection model for identifying associations of non-coding RNAs and human diseases. Knowledge-Based Systems, 258.

Lin, C.-C., & Vinel, A. (2022). Recent Internet of Things Applications in Smart Grid and Various Industries. Mobile Networks and Applications, 27, 139-140.

Mahdavi, E., et al. (2022). ITL-IDS : Incremental Transfer Learning for Intrusion Detection Systems. Knowledge-Based Systems, 253.

Manikandan, R., et al. (2022). Quality of Service-Aware neuroimaging: a comparative analysis with a custom 3D Resource Selection in Healthcare IoT Using Deep Autoencoder Neural Networks. Human-Centric Computing and Information Sciences, 12(36), 1–16.

Mumtaz, N., et al. (2022). An overview of violence detection techniques : current challenges and future directions. Artificial Intelligence Review

Nilsson, F., Bouguelia, M.-R., & Rögnvaldsson, T. (2022). Practical Joint Human-Machine Exploration of Industrial Time Series Using the Matrix Profile. Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery (Epub).

Nowaczyk, S., et al. (2022). Smaller is smarter : A case for small to medium-sized smart cities. Journal of Smart Cities and Society, 1(2), 95–117.

Rajabi, E., & Etminani, K. (2022). Knowledge-graphbased explainable AI : A systematic review. Journal of Information Science

Rezk, N., et al. (2022). MOHAQ: Multi-Objective Hardware-Aware Quantization of recurrent neural networks. Journal of Systems Architecture, 133.

Saberi-Movahed, F., et al. (2022). Dual Regularized Unsupervised Feature Selection Based on Matrix Factorization and Minimum Redundancy with application in gene selection. Knowledge-Based Systems, 256.

Saeed, U., et al. (2022). One-shot many-to-many facial reenactment using Bi-Layer Graph Convolutional Networks. Neural Networks, 156, 193-204.

Sarmadi, H., et al. (2022). Attention Horizon as a Predictor for the Fuel Consumption Rate of Drivers. Sensors, 22(6).

Sidorenko, G., et al. (2022). Towards a Complete Safety Framework for Longitudinal Driving. IEEE Trans Intelligent Vehicles.

Sidorenko, G., et al. (2022). Emergency braking with ACC : how much does V2V communication help. IEEE Networking Letters, 4(3), 157–161.

Sidorenko, G., et al. (2022). Safety of Automatic Emergency Braking in Platooning. IEEE Trans Vehicular Technology, 71(3), 2319–2332.

Simão, M., Prytz, R., & Nowaczyk, S. (2022). Long-term Evaluation of the State-of-Health of Traction Lithium-ion Batteries in Operational Buses. International Journal of Prognostics and Health Management, 13(1).

Singh, R., et al. (2022). Impact of quarantine on fractional order dynamical model of Covid-19. Computers in Biology and Medicine, 151, 106266.

Soliman, A., et al. (2022). Adopting transfer learning for convolution neural network model. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 22 (Suppl 6), 318.

Svanström, F., Alonso-Fernandez, F., & Englund, C. (2022). Drone Detection and Tracking in Real-Time by Fusion of Different Sensing Modalities. Drones, 6(11).

Ullah, S., et al. (2022). An Eigenspace Method for Detecting Space-Time Disease Clusters with Unknown Population-Data. Computers, Materials & Continua, 70(1), 1945-1953.

Wibring, K., et al. (2022). Development of a prehospital prediction model for risk stratification of patients with chest pain. American Journal of Emergency Medicine, 51, 26-31.

Zhang, Y., et al. (2022). A Multimodal Coupled Graph Attention Network for Joint Traffic Event Detection and Sentiment Classification. IEEE Trans Intelligent Transportation Systems.

Zhu, H., et al. (2022). SwitchNet : A modular neural network for adaptive relation extraction. Computers & Electrical Engineering, 104(B).

2021

Alonso-Fernandez, F., et al. (2021). Facial Masks and Soft-Biometrics : Leveraging Face Recognition CNNs for Age and Gender Prediction on Mobile Ocular Images. IET Biometrics, 10(5), 562–580.

Alonso-Fernandez, F., et al. (2021). Writer Identification Using Microblogging Texts for Social Media Forensics. IEEE Trans Biometrics, Behavior, and Identity Science, 3, 405-426.

Aramrattana, M., Habibovic, A. & Englund, C. (2021). Henriksson, J., et al. (2021). Performance analysis of Safety and experience of other drivers while interacting out-of-distribution detection on trained neural networks, with automated vehicle platoons, Transportation Research Information and Software Technology, 130, 106409. Interdisciplinary Perspectives, 10, 100381

Autili, M., et al. (2021). Cooperative Intelligent Transport Systems: Choreography-Based Urban Traffic Coordination. IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 2088-2099.

Björkelund, A., et al. (2021). Machine learning compared with rule-in/rule-out algorithms and logistic regression to predict acute myocardial infarction based on troponin T concentrations. J American College of Emergency Physicians Open, 2(2).

Cooney, M. (2021). Robot Art, in the Eye of the Beholder? : Personalized Metaphors Facilitate Communication of Emotions and Creativity. Frontiers in Robotics and AI, 8.

Cooney, M., Järpe, E., & Vinel, A. (2021). 'Vehicular Steganography'?: Opportunities and Challenges. Electronic Communications of the EASST, 80.

Corizzo, R., et al. (2021). Multi-aspect renewable energy forecasting. Information Sciences, 546, 701-722.

Dai, L., & Bouguelia, M.-R. (2021). Testing Exchangeability with Martingale for Change-Point Detection. International Journal of Ambient Computing and Intelligence, 12(2), 1-20.

David, J., & Rögnvaldsson, T. (2021). Multi-robot routing problem with min-max objective. Robotics, 10(4).

Englund, C., et al. (2021). AI Perspectives in Smart Cities and Communities to Enable Road Vehicle Automation and Smart Traffic Control. Smart Cities, 4(2), 783-802.

Etminani, K., et al. (2021). Improving Medication Adherence Through Adaptive Digital Interventions (iMedA) in Patients with Hypertension : Protocol for an Interrupted Time Series Study. JMIR Research Protocols, 10(5).

Farouq, S., et al. (2021). Mondrian conformal anomaly detection for fault sequence identification in heterogeneous fleets. Neurocomputing, 462, 591-606.

Fernandes, S., Fanaee Tork, H., & Gama, J. (2021). Ten-Shiomi, M., et al. (2021). Editorial: Special issue on robot sor decomposition for analysing time-evolving social netand human interactive communication 2021 (Part I). Adworks : an overview. Artificial Intelligence Review, 54, vanced Robotics, vol. 35 (17), pp. 1029-1029. 2891-2916.

Fernandes, S., et al. (2021). WINTENDED: WINdowed TENsor decomposition for Densification Event Detection in time-evolving networks. Machine Learning, 112, 459-481.

Heyman, E. T., et al. (2021). Improving Machine Learning 30-Day Mortality Prediction by Discounting Surprising Deaths. J Emergency Medicine, 61, 763–773.

Järpe, E., & Weckstén, M. (2021). Velody 2-Resilient High-Capacity MIDI Steganography for Organ and Harpsichord Music. Applied Sciences, 11(1).

Khan, T., & Jacobs, P. G. (2021). Prediction of Mild Cog nitive Impairment Using Movement Complexity. IEEE Journal of Biomedical and Health Informatics, 25(1), 227-236.

Khan, T., Zeeshan, A., & Dougherty, M. (2021). A novel method for automatic classification of Parkinson gait severity using front-view video analysis. Technology and Health Care, 29(4), 643–653.

Mbiydzenyuy, G., et al. (2021). Opportunities for Machine Learning in District Heating. Applied Sciences, 11(13).

Ohlsson, M., et al. (2021). Proteomic Data Analysis for Differential Profiling of the Autoimmune Diseases SLE, RA, SS, and ANCA-Associated Vasculitis. J Proteome Research, 20(2), 1252-1260.

Pedrollo, G., et al. (2021). Using smart virtual-sensor nodes to improve the robustness of indoor localization systems. Sensors, 21(11).

Pirasteh, P., Bouguelia, M.-R., & Santosh, K. C. (2021). Personalized recommendation : an enhanced hybrid collaborative filtering. Advances in Computational Intelligence, 1(4).

Rabbani, M., et al. (2021). A Review on Machine Learning Approaches for Network Malicious Behavior Detection in Emerging Technologies. Entropy, 23(5).

Sheikholharam Mashhadi, P., Nowaczyk, S., & Pashami, S. (2021). Parallel orthogonal deep neural network. Neural Networks, 140, 167-183.

Shiomi, M., et al. (2021). Editorial: Special issue on robot and human interactive communication 2021 (Part II). Advanced Robotics, 35(19), 1131-1131.

Svanström, F., Alonso-Fernandez, F., & Englund, C. (2021). A dataset for multi-sensor drone detection. Data in Brief, 39.

Ullah, S., et al. (2021). Space-Time Cluster Analysis of Etminani, K., et al. (2020). How Behavior Change Strat-Accidental Oil Spills in Rivers State, Nigeria, 2011–2019. Computers, Materials & Continua, 66(3), 3065–3074.

Yasin, Z. M., et al. (2021). Receiving care according to national heart failure guidelines is associated with lower total costs : an observational study in Region Halland, Sweden. European Heart Journal - Quality of Care and Clinical Outcomes, 7(3), 280–286.

Zhang, C., Fanaee Tork, H., & Thoresen, M. (2021). Feature extraction from unequal length heterogeneous EHR time series via dynamic time warping and tensor decomposition. Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery, 35, 1760–1784.

2020

Ali Hamad, R., et al. (2020). Efficient Activity Recognition in Smart Homes Using Delayed Fuzzy Temporal Windows on Binary Sensors. IEEE J Biomedical and Health Informatics, 24(2), 387-395.

Ali Hamad, R., Kimura, M., & Lundström, J. (2020). Efficacy of Imbalanced Data Handling Methods on Deep Learning for Smart Homes Environments. SN Computer Science, 1(4).

Amoozegar, M., et al. (2020). Extra-adaptive robust online subspace tracker for anomaly detection from streaming networks. Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence, 94.

Aramrattana, M., et al. (2020) A Simulation Study on Effects of Platooning Gaps on Drivers of Conventional Vehicles in Highway Merging Situations, IEEE Trans Intelligent Transportation Systems.

Ashfaq, A., et al. (2020). Data resource profile : Regional healthcare information platform in Halland, Sweden. Int J Epidemiology, 49(3), 738–739f.

Atabaki-Pasdar, N., & Ohlsson, M. et al. (2020). Predicting and elucidating the etiology of fatty liver disease : A machine learning modeling and validation study in the IMI DIRECT cohorts. PLoS Medicine, 17(6).

Bae, J., et al. (2020). Interactive Clustering : A Comprehensive Review. ACM Computing Surveys, 53(1).

Calikus, E., et al. (2020). No free lunch but a cheaper supper: A general framework for streaming anomaly detection. Expert Systems with Applications, 155.

Duracz, A., et al. (2020). Advanced Hazard Analysis and Risk Assessment in the ISO 26262 Functional Safety Standard Using Rigorous Simulation. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, 11971, 108–126.

egies are Used to Design Digital Interventions to Improve Medication Adherence and Blood Pressure Among Patients With Hypertension : Systematic Review. J Medical Internet Research.

Evdokimova E, et al. (2020). Internet Provisioning in VANETs : Performance Modeling of Drive-Thru Scenarios. Piscataway, NJ: Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE); IEEE Trans intelligent transportation systems, 21, 2801–2815.

Fan, Y., Nowaczyk, S., & Rögnvaldsson, T. (2020). Transfer learning for remaining useful life prediction based on consensus self-organizing models. Reliability Engineering & System Safety, 203.

Farouq, S., et al. (2020). Large-scale monitoring of operationally diverse district heating substations : A reference-group based approach. Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence, 90.

Fernandes, S., Fanaee Tork, H., & Gama, J. (2020). NOR-MO : A new method for estimating the number of components in CP tensor decomposition. Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence, 96.

Galozy, A., & Nowaczyk, S. (2020). Prediction and pattern analysis of medication refill adherence through electronic health records and dispensation data. J Biomedical Informatics: X, 6–7.

Galozy, A., et al. (2020). Pitfalls of medication adherence approximation through EHR and pharmacy records: Definitions, data and computation. Int J Medical Informatics, 136.

Järpe, E. (2020). An alternative Diffie-Hellman protocol. Cryptography, 4(1).

Khan, T., Zeeshan, A., and Dougherty, M. (2020). A Novel Method for Automatic Classification of Parkinson Gait Severity Using Front-view Video Analysis. 1 Jan. 2020: Technology and Health Care Preprint 1 - 11.

Khan, T., & Jacobs, P. G. (2021). Prediction of Mild Cognitive Impairment Using Movement Complexity. IEEE journal of biomedical and health informatics, 25(1), 227-236

Khan, T., et al. (2020). Assessing Parkinson's disease severity using speech analysis in non-native speakers. Computer Speech & Language, 61.

Khoshkangini, R., et al. (2020). Early Prediction of Quality Issues in Automotive Modern Industry. Information, 11(7).

Lin, C. & Vinel, A. (2020). Recent Internet of Things Applications in Smart Grid and Various Industries. Mobile Networks and Applications.

Lyamin, N., Bellalta, B., Vinel, A. (2020). Age-of-Information-Aware Decentralized Congestion Control in VANETs. IEEE Networking Letters, 2, 3–37.

Marques Marinho, M.A., et al. (2020). Spherical Wave Array Based Positioning for Vehicular Scenarios. IEEE Access, 8, 110073-110081.

Miyasaka, H., et al. (2020). The quantification of task-difficulty of upper limb motor function skill based on Rasch analysis. Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation, 27(1), 49-56.

Molinaro, A., et al. (2020). 5G-V2X Communications and Networking for Connected and Autonomous Vehicles. Basel: MDPI Future Internet, 12, 116.

Ni Y, et al. (2020). Toward Reliable and Scalable Internet-of-Vehicles : Performance Analysis and Resource Management. Proceedings of the IEEE, 108, 324-340.

Ali Hamad, R. (2020). Efficient Activity Recognition in Smart Homes Using Delayed Fuzzy Temporal Windows on Binary Sensors. IEEE J Biomedical and Health Informatics, 24(2), 387-395.

Ortíz-Barrios, M.A., et al. (2020). Complementing real datasets with simulated data : a regression-based approach. Multimedia Tools and Applications, 79, 34301–34324.

Ortíz-Barrios, M.A., et al. (2020). Simulated Data to Estimate Real Sensor Events-A Poisson-Regression-Based Modelling. Remote Sensing, 12(5).

Pelliccione, P., et al. (2020). Bevond connected cars: A systems of systems perspective. Science of Computer Programming, 191, 102414.

Polymeri, E., et al. (2020). Deep learning-based quantification of PET/CT prostate gland uptake : association with overall survival. Clinical Physiology and Functional Imaging, 40(2), 106–113.

Rabbani, M., et al. (2020). A Hybrid Machine Learning Approach for Malicious Behaviour Detection and Recognition in Cloud Computing. J Network and Computer Applications, 151.

Sheikholharam Mashhadi, P., Nowaczyk, S., & Pashami, S. (2020). Stacked Ensemble of Recurrent Neural Networks for Predicting Turbocharger Remaining Useful Life. Applied Sciences, 10(1).

Ullah, S., et al. (2020). Space-Time Clustering Character-Khan, T., et al. (2019). A Novel Method for Classification istics of Tuberculosis in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Province, of Running Fatigue Using Change-Point Segmentation. Pakistan, 2015–2019. Int J Environmental Research and Sensors, 19, 4729. Public Health, 17(4).

Viteckova, S., et al. (2020). Gait symmetry methods : Comparison of waveform-based Methods and recommendation for use. Biomedical Signal Processing and Control, 55.

2019

Abiri, N., et al. (2019). Establishing strong imputation performance of a denoising autoencoder in a wide range of missing data problems. Neurocomputing, 365, 137-146.

Aein, M. J., Aksoy, E. E., & Wörgötter, F. (2019). Library of actions: Implementing a generic robot execution framework by using manipulation action semantics. The International Journal of Robotics Research, 38(8), 910-934.

Amadeo, M., et al. (2019). Enhancing the 3GPP V2X Architecture with Information-Centric Networking. Future Internet, 11, 199.

Ashfaq, A., et al. (2019). Readmission prediction using deep learning on electronic health records. J Biomedical Informatics, 97, 103256.

Blom, M.C., et al. (2019). Training machine learning models to predict 30-day mortality in patients discharged from the emergency department: a retrospective, population-based registry study. BMJ Open, 9, e028015.

Bocharova, I., et al. (2019). Characterizing Packet Losses in Vehicular Networks. IEEE Trans Vehicular Technology, 68,8347-8358.

Bocharova, I., et al. (2019). Low Delay Inter-Packet Coding in Vehicular Networks. Future Internet, 11, 212.

Calikus, E., et al. (2019). A data-driven approach for discovering heat load patterns in district heating. Applied Energy, 252, 113409.

Campolo, C., et al. (2019). On latency and reliability of road hazard warnings over the cellular V2X sidelink interface. IEEE Communications Letters, 23, 2135-2138.

Gholami Shabandi, S. & Magnusson, M. (2019). 2D Map Alignment with Region Decomposition. Autonomous Robots, 43, 1117-1136

Gonzalez-Sosa, E., et al. (2019). Exploring Body Texture From mmW Images for Person Recognition. IEEE Trans Biometrics, Behavior, and Identity Science, 1(2), 139-151.

Haglund, E., et al. (2019). Dynamic joint stability measured as gait symmetry in people with symptomatic knee osteoarthritis. Ann Rheumatic Diseases, Vol. 78, no Suppl. 2, 1458.

Fingerprint Identification using Extended Feature Sets, Information Fusion, 50, 9-19

Lien, S. Y., et al. (2019). Latency-optimal mmwave radio access for v2x supporting next generation driving use cases. IEEE Access, 7, 6782-6795.

Lyamin, N., et al. (2019). Real-time jamming DoS detection in safety-critical V2V C-ITS using data mining. IEEE Communications Letters, 23(3), 442–445.

Mendoza-Palechor, F., et al. (2019). Affective recognition from EEG signals: an integrated data-mining approach. J Ambient Intelligence and Humanized Computing, 10, 3955-3974.

Muhammad, N., & Åstrand, B. (2019). Predicting agent behaviour and state for applications in a roundabout-scenario autonomous driving. Sensors, 19(19), 4279.

Nemati, H.M., et al. (2019). Reliability evaluation of pow- 2018 er cables considering the restoration characteristic. Int J Electrical Power & Energy Systems, 105, 622-631.

Orand, A., et al. (2019). Bilateral tactile feedback-enabled training for stroke survivors using Microsoft Kinect. Sensors, 19, 3474.

Polymeri, E., et al. (2019). Deep learning based quantification of PET/CT prostate gland uptake: association with overall survival. Clinical Physiology and Functional Imaging.

Ribeiro, E., Uhl, A., & Alonso-Fernandez, F. (2019). Iris super-resolution using CNNs: is photo-realism important to iris recognition?. IET Biometrics, 8(1), 69-78.

Teng, X., et al. (2019). Evaluation of cracks in metallic material using a self-organized data-driven model of acoustic echo-signal. Applied Sciences, 9, 95.

Thunberg, J., et al. (2019). Vehicle-to-Vehicle Communications for Platooning: Safety Analysis. IEEE Networking Letters, 1(4), 168-172.

Borrelli, P., Enqvist, O., Polymeri, E., Ohlsson, M., & Edenbrandt, L. (2019). Prognostic value of automatically acquired biomarkers using artificial intelligence in 18F-Choline PET/CT in high-risk prostate cancer. Journal of Nuclear Medicine, 60(supplement 1), 1592-1592.

Ortiz Barrios, M., et al. (2019). Selecting the most suitable classification algorithm for supporting assistive technology adoption for people with dementia: A multicriteria framework. J Multi Criteria Decision Analysis.

Cooney, M., & Leister, W. (2019). Using the engagement profile to design an engaging robotic teaching assistant for students. Robotics, 8(1), 21.

Krish, R.P., et al. (2019), Improving Automated Latent Pejner, M.N., et al. (2019). A Smart Home System for Information Sharing, Health Assessments, and Medication Self-Management for Older People: Protocol for a Mixed-Methods Study. JMIR research protocols, 8(4), e12447.

> Miyasaka, H., et al. (2019). Effect of Sensory Loss on Improvements of Upper-Limb Paralysis Through Robot-Assisted Training: A Preliminary Case Series Study. Applied Sciences, 9(18), 3925.

> Zarzoura, M., et al. (2019). Investigation into reducing anthropomorphic hand degrees of freedom while maintaining human hand grasping functions. J Engineering in Medicine, 233(2), 279-292.

> Zhang, K., et al. (2019). Contract-theoretic approach for delay constrained offloading in vehicular edge computing networks. Mobile Networks and Applications, 24(3), 1003-1014.

Alonso-Fernandez, et al. (2018), A Survey of Super-Resolution in Iris Biometrics with Evaluation of Dictionary-Learning, IEEE Access, vol. 7, pp. 6519-6544, 2019.

Medved, D., et al. (2018), Improving prediction of heart transplantation outcome using deep learning techniques, Scientific Reports 8, 3613 (2018)

Bouguelia, M.-R., et al. (2018). Agreeing to disagree: active learning with noisy labels without crowdsourcing. International Journal of Machine Learning and Cybernetics, 9(8), 1307-1319.

Bouguelia, M.-R., Nowaczyk, S., & Payberah, A. H. (2018). An adaptive algorithm for anomaly and novelty detection in evolving data streams. Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery, 32(6), 1597-1633.

Cooney, M., & Menezes, M. L. R. (2018). Design for an Art Therapy Robot: An Explorative Review of the Theoretical Foundations for Engaging in Emotional and Creative Painting with a Robot. Multimodal Technologies and Interaction.

Ericson, S. K., & Åstrand, B. (2018). Analysis of two visual odometry systems for use in an agricultural field environment. Biosystems Engineering, 166, 116-125.

Farouq, S., Byttner, S., & Gadd, H. (2018). Towards understanding district heating substation behavior using robust first difference regression. Energy Procedia, 149, 236-245).

Rimavicius, T., et al. (2018). Automatic benthic imagery recognition using a hierarchical two-stage approach. Signal, Image and Video Processing, 12, 1107–1114.

Rothfuss, J., et al. (2018). Deep Episodic Memory: En- Parker, J., & Lundgren, L. (2018). Surfing the Waves of coding, Recalling, and Predicting Episodic Experiences for the CMJ: Are There between-Sport Differences in the Robot Action Execution. IEEE Robotics and Automation Waveform Data? Sports, 6(4), 1–12. Letters, 3(4), 4007-4014.

Integrating Edge Computing and Service Oriented Architecture for Automatic Emergency Management. J Advanced Transportation, 13.

Gonzalez-Sosa, E., et al. (2018). Facial Soft Biometrics for Recognition in the Wild: Recent Works, Annotation and Evaluation. IEEE Trans Information Forensics and Security, 13(8), 2001–2014.

Ploeg, J., et al. (2018). Guest Editorial Introduction to the Special Issue on the 2016 Grand Cooperative Driving Challenge. IEEE Trans Intelligent Transportation Systems, 19, 1208–1212.

Muhammad, N., & Åstrand, B. (2018). Intention Estimation Using Set of Reference Trajectories as Behaviour Model. Sensors, 18(12).

Vaiciukynas, E., et al. (2018). Learning Low-Dimensional Representation of Bivariate Histogram Data. IEEE Trans Intelligent Transportation Systems, 19(11), 3723–3735.

Bouguelia, M.-R., et al. (2018). Mode tracking using multiple data streams. Information Fusion, 43, 33-46.

Rosenstatter, T., & Englund, C. (2018). Modelling the Level of Trust in a Cooperative Automated Vehicle Control System. IEEE Trans Intelligent Transportation Systems, 19, 1237-1247.

Gholami Shahbandi, S., Magnusson, M., & Iagnemma, K. (2018). Nonlinear Optimization of Multimodal Two-Dimensional Map Alignment with Application to Prior Knowledge Transfer. IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters, 3(3), 2040–2047.

Khandelwal, S., & Wickström, N. (2018). Novel methodology for estimating Initial Contact events from accelerometers positioned at different body locations. Gait & Posture, 59, 278–285.

Calikus, E., et al. (2018). Ranking Abnormal Substations by Power Signature Dispersion. Energy Procedia, 149, 345-353.

Rögnvaldsson, T., et al. (2018). Self-monitoring for maintenance of vehicle fleets. Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery, 32(2), 344-384.

Mashad Nemati, H., et al. (2018). Stream Data Cleaning for Dynamic Line Rating Application. Energies, 11(8).

Aramrattana, M., et al. (2018). Team Halmstad Approach Chen, L., & Englund, C. (2018). Every Second Counts: to Cooperative Driving in the Grand Cooperative Driving Challenge 2016. IEEE Trans Intelligent Transportation Systems, 19, 1248–1261.

CONFERENCES WITH FULL-PAPER REVIEW

2022

Alonso-Fernandez, F., & Bigun, J. (2022). Continuous Examination by Automatic Quiz Assessment Using Spiral Codes and Image Processing. 2022 IEEE Global Engineering Education Conference (EDUCON), March 2022, 929-935.

Ashfaq, A., Lingman, M., & Nowaczyk, S. (2022). KAFE : Knowledge and Frequency Adapted Embeddings. Machine Learning, Optimization, and Data Science : 7th International Conference, LOD 2021, Grasmere, UK, October 4-8, 2021, Revised Selected Papers, Part II, 13164, 132-146. .

Berenji, A., & Taghiyarrenani, Z. (2022). An Analysis of Vibrations and Currents for Broken Rotor Bar Detection in Three-phase Induction Motors. Proceedings of the European Conference of the Prognostics and Health Management Society 2022, 43-48.

Cooney, M., Järpe, E., & Vinel, A. (2022). 'Robot Steganography': Opportunities and Challenges. Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Agents and Artificial Intelligence - Volume 1: ICAART, 200-207.

Davari, N., et al. (2022). A Fault Detection Framework Based on LSTM Autoencoder : A Case Study for Volvo Bus Data Set. Advances in Intelligent Data Analysis XX : 20th International Symposium on Intelligent Data Analysis, IDA 2022 Rennes, France, April 20-22, 2022: Proceedings, 39–52.

Del Moral, P., Nowaczyk, S., & Pashami, S. (2022). Filtering Misleading Repair Log Labels to Improve Predictive Maintenance Models. Proceedings of the 7th European Conference of the Prognostics and Health Management Society 2022, 7 (1), 110–117.

Fan, Y., Hamid, S., & Nowaczyk, S. (2022). Incorporating Physics-based Models into Data-Driven Approaches for Air Leak Detection in City Buses. ECML PKDD 2022 Workshops. The European Conference on Machine Learning and Principles and Practice of Knowledge Discovery in Databases 2022.

Fanaee Tork, H. (2022). Tensor Completion Post-Correction. Advances in Intelligent Data Analysis XX : 20th International Symposium on Intelligent Data Analysis, IDA 2022, Rennes, France, April 20–22, 2022, Proceedings, 13205, 89–101.

Hagström, A. L., et al. (2022). Writer Recognition Using Off-line Handwritten Single Block Characters. The 10th International Workshop on Biometrics and Forensics, IWBF, Salzburg, Austria, April 20-21, 2022.

Kochenborger et al. (2022). Robot Self-defense : Robot, Don't Hurt Me, No More. HRI '22 : Proceedings of the 2022 ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction, 742–745

Rajabi, E., et al. (2022). An Explainable Knowledge-based AI Framework for Mobility as a Service. Proceedings of the International Conference on Software Engineering and Knowledge Engineering, 312–316.

Sjöberg, J., & Cooney, M. (2022). The 'New World' of Teaching—Thoughts from our Teachers in the 'Front Lines'. NU (Nätverk och Utveckling) 2022, Stockholm, June 15-17, 2022.

Sjöberg, J., et al. (2022). Promoting life-long learning through flexible educational format for professionals within AI, Design and Innovation management. EAI DLI 2022 - 7th EAI International Conference on Design, Learning & Innovation, November 21-22, 2022, Faro, Portugal.

Taghiyarrenani, Z., & Berenji, A. (2022). Noise-robust representation for fault identification with limited data via data augmentation. Proceedings of the European Conference of the Prognostics and Health Management Society 2022, 473–479.

Taghiyarrenani, Z., & Farsi, H. (2022). Domain Adaptation with Maximum Margin Criterion with application to network traffic classification. Presented at the ECML/ PKDD 2022 Workshop on Machine Learning for Cyber Security, Grenoble, September 19–23, 2022.

Taghiyarrenani, Z., et al. (2022). Towards Geometry-Preserving Domain Adaptation for Fault Identification. Presented at the ECML/PKDD 2022 Workshop on IoT Streams for Predictive Maintenance, Grenoble, September 19–23, 2022

Wärnestål, P. (2022). Multi-disciplinary Learning and Innovation for Professional Design of AI-Powered Services. Design, Learning, and Innovation : 6th EAI International Conference, DLI 2021, Virtual Event, December 10-11, 2021, Proceedings, 21–36.

2021

Akyol G., Sariel S. & Aksoy E.E. (2021). A Variational Graph Autoencoder for Manipulation Action Recognition and Prediction. 20th International Conference on Advanced Robotics (ICAR), 968-973

Alfakir, O., Larsson, V., & Alonso-Fernandez, F. (2021). A Cross-Platform Mobile Application for Ambulance CPR during Cardiac Arrests. Presented at the 8th Intl. Conference on Soft Computing & Machine Intelligence, ISCMI, Cairo, Egypt, 26-27 November, 2021.

Alonso-Fernandez, F., et al. (2021). SqueezeFacePoseNet : Lightweight Face Verification Across Different Poses for Mobile Platforms. Pattern Recognition. ICPR International Workshops and Challenges : Virtual Event, January 10-15, 2021, Proceedings, Part VIII, 139–153.

Altarabichi, M. G., et al. (2021). Extracting Invariant Features for Predicting State of Health of Batteries in Hybrid Energy Buses. 2021 IEEE 8th International Conference on Data Science and Advanced Analytics (DSAA), Porto, Portugal, 6-9 Oct., 2021, 1–6.

Altarabichi, M. G., et al. (2021). Surrogate-Assisted Genetic Algorithm for Wrapper Feature Selection. 2021 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation (CEC), 776–785.

Ashfaq A., Lingman M. & Nowaczyk S. (2022) KAFE: Knowledge and Frequency Adapted Embeddings. International Conference on Machine Learning, Optimization, and Data Science. In: Nicosia G. et al. (eds) Machine Learning, Optimization, and Data Science. LOD 2021. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol 13164. Springer, Cham.

Chen, K., et al. (2021). Forklift Truck Activity Recognition from CAN Data. IoT Streams for Data-Driven Predictive Maintenance and IoT, Edge, and Mobile for Embedded Machine Learning : Second International Workshop, IoT Streams 2020, and First International Workshop, ITEM 2020, Co-Located with ECML/PKDD 2020, Ghent, Belgium, September 14-18, 2020, Revised Selected Papers, 119–126.

Cooney, M., & Sjöberg, J. (2021). Could Playful AI Prototypes Support Creativity and Emotions in Learning? The Design, Learning & Innovation (DLI 2021), 6th EAI International Conference on Design, Learning & Innovation, Aalborg, Denmark (Online), December 2-3, 2021.

Cooney, M., Valle, F., & Vinel, A. (2021). Robot First Aid : Autonomous Vehicles Could Help in Emergencies. 2021 Swedish Artificial Intelligence Society Workshop (SAIS). The 33rd annual workshop of the Swedish Artificial Intelligence Society (SAIS 2021), Luleå, Sweden (Virtual, Online), 14-15 June, 2021. Cortinhal, T., Kurnaz, F., & Aksoy, E. (2021). Semantics-aware Multi-modal Domain Translation : From Li-DAR Point Clouds to Panoramic Color Images. 3095– 3102.

Cortinhal, T., Tzelepi, G., & Erdal Aksoy, E. (2021). SalsaNext : Fast, Uncertainty-aware Semantic Segmentation of LiDAR Point Clouds for Autonomous Driving. Advances in Visual Computing : 15th International Symposium, ISVC 2020, San Diego, CA, USA, October 5–7, 2020, Proceedings, Part II, 12510, 207–222.

Del Moral, P., Nowaczyk, S. & Pashami, S. (2021). Hierarchical Multi-class Classification for Fault Diagnosis. 31st European Safety and Reliability Conference (ESREL), Sept. 19-23, 2021.

Inceoglu A., et al. (2021). FINO-Net: A Deep Multimodal Sensor Fusion Framework for Manipulation Failure Detection. IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), pp. 6841-6847

Josse, E., et al. (2021). In-Bed Person Monitoring Using Thermal Infrared Sensors. The 16th Conference on Computer Science And Intelligence Systems, FedCSIS, Online, 2-5 September, 2021.

Khoshkangini, R., et al. (2021). Forecasting Components Failures Using Ant Colony Optimization for Predictive Maintenance. Proceedings of the 31st European Safety and Reliability Conference, 2947–2954.

Muhammad, N., Hedenberg, K., & Åstrand, B. (2021). Adaptive warning fields for warehouse AGVs. 2021 26th IEEE International Conference on Emerging Technologies and Factory Automation (ETFA), 1–8.

Persson, A., Dymne, N., & Alonso-Fernandez, F. (2021). Classification of PS and ABS Black Plastics for WEEE Recycling Applications. The 8th Intl. Conference on Soft Computing & Machine Intelligence, ISCMI, Cairo, 26-27 November 2021.

Rajabi, E., & Etminani, K. (2021). Towards a knowledge graph-based explainable decision support system in Healthcare. Public Health and Informatics: Proceedings of MIE 2021, 281, 502–503.

Rosberg, F. & Englund, C. (2021) Comparing Facial Expressions for Face Swapping Evaluation with Supervised Contrastive Representation Learning. IEEE International Conference on Automatic Face and Gesture Recognition 2021, Jodhpur, India (Virtual Event) December 15 - 18, 2021

Rosberg, F. & Englund, C. (2021). Towards Privacy Aware Data collection in Traffic: A Proposed Metric for Measuring Facial Anonymity. Fast Zero'21, Society of Automotive Engineers of Japan.

- Rosell, J., et al. (2021). A Frequency-based Data Mining Approach to Enhance in-vehicle Network Intrusion Detection. Fast Zero'21, Society of Automotive Engineers of Japan.
- Sidorenko, G., et al. (2021). The CAR Approach: Creative Applied Research Experiences for Master's Students in Autonomous Platooning. 2021 30th IEEE International Conference on Robot and Human Interactive Communication, RO-MAN 2021, 214–221.
- Svanström, F., Englund, C., & Alonso-Fernandez, F. (2021). Real-Time Drone Detection and Tracking with Visible, Thermal and Acoustic Sensors. 2020 25th International Conference on Pattern Recognition (ICPR), 7265–7272.
- Torstensson, M., et al. (2021). Data Leakage in Anonymization Methods. Fast Zero'21, Society of Automotive Engineers of Japan.
- Valle, F., et al. (2021). Lonely road : speculative challenges for a social media robot aimed to reduce driver loneliness. Workshop Proceedings of the 15th International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media. Presented at the MAISoN 2021. 6th International Workshop on Mining Actionable Insights from Social Networks – Special Edition on Healthcare Social Analytics & The 15th International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media (ICWSM 2021), Virtual, June 7, 2021.
- Valle, F., et al. (2021) The integration of UAVs to the C-ITS Stack. IEEE Workshop on Intelligent Connected and Autonomous Vehicles (ICAV'21).
- Wärnestål, P. (2021). Multi-disciplinary Learning and Innovation for Professional Design of AI-Powered Services. EAI Conference on Design, Learning, and Innovation. Dec 2-3, Aalborg, Denmark.

2020

- Aksoy, E., Baci, S., & Cavdar, S. (2020). SalsaNet : Fast Road and Vehicle Segmentation in LiDAR Point Clouds for Autonomous Driving. IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium : IV2020.
- Alonso-Fernandez, F., et al. (2020). Soft-Biometrics Estimation In the Era of Facial Masks. In 2020 International Conference of the Biometrics Special Interest Group (BI-OSIG) (pp. 1–6).
- Alonso-Fernandez, F., et al. (2020). SqueezeFacePoseNet: Lightweight Face Verification Across Different Poses for Mobile Platforms. IAPR TC4 Workshop on Mobile and Wearable Biometrics, WMWB, in conjunction with Intl Conf on Pattern Recognition, ICPR, 2020.

Aramrattana, M., et al. (2020) A Novel Risk Indicator for Kharazian, Z., et al. (2020). Increasing safety at smart Cut-In Situations, The IEEE 23rd International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC), Rhodes, Greece, 2020.

Belvisi, N. M. S., Muhammad, N., & Alonso-Fernandez, F. (2020). Forensic Authorship Analysis of Microblogging Texts Using N -Grams and Stylometric Features. In 2020 8th International Workshop on Biometrics and Forensics (IWBF).

Cheng, L., et al. (2020). Interactive Anomaly Detection Based on Clustering and Online Mirror Descent. IoT-Stream Workshop at ECML-PKDD, Ghent-Belgium, September 14 –18, 2020.

Dahl, O., et al. (2020). Understanding Association Between Logged Vehicle Data and Vehicle Marketing Parameters : Using Clustering and Rule-Based Machine Learning. In Proceedings of the 2020 3rd International Conference on Information Management and Management Science, IMMS 2020 (pp. 13-22).

Delooz Q, et al. (2020) Design and Performance of Congestion-Aware Collective Perception. In: 2020 IEEE Vehicular Networking Conference (VNC)

Duracz, A., et al. (2020). Advanced Hazard Analysis and Risk Assessment in the ISO 26262 Functional Safety Standard Using Rigorous Simulation. In Cyber Physical Systems. Model-Based Design : 9th International Workshop, CyPhy 2019, and 15th International Workshop, WESE 2019, New York City, October 17-18, 2019, Revised Selected Papers (Vol. 11971 LNCS, pp. 108-126).

Englund, C. (2020). Aware and intelligent infrastructure for action intention recognition of cars and bicycles. 6th International Conference on Vehicle Technology and Intelligent Transport Systems - Volume 1 : VEHITS (pp. 281-288).

Fanaee Tork, H., & Thoresen, M. (2020). Iterative Multi-mode Discretization: Applications to Co-clustering (Vol. 12323, pp. 94-105). The 23rd International Conference on Discovery Science 2020, 19-21 October, Thessaloniki, Greece.

Fanaee Tork, H., et al. (2020). CycleFootprint : A Fully Automated Method for Extracting Operation Cycles from Historical Raw Data of Multiple Sensors. In IoT Streams for Data-Driven Predictive Maintenance and IoT, Edge, and Mobile for Embedded Machine Learning (pp. 30–44).

Hernandez-Diaz, K., Alonso-Fernandez, F., Bigun, J. (2020) Cross-Spectral Periocular Recognition with Conditional Adversarial Networks, 2020 IEEE International Joint Conference on Biometrics (IJCB)

elderly homes by Human fall detection from video using transfer Learning approaches. In e-proceedings of the 30th European Safety and Reliability Conference and 15th Probabilistic Safety Assessment and Management Conference (ESREL2020 PSAM15).

Nilsson, F., Jakobsen, J., & Alonso-Fernandez, F. (2020). Detection and Classification of Industrial SignalLights for Factory Floors. The 2020 International Conference on Intelligent Systems and Computer Vision (ISCV), Fez, Morocco, June 9-11, 2020.

Rahat, M., et al. (2020). Modeling turbocharger failures using Markov process for predictive maintenance. 30th European Safety and Reliability Conference and 15th Probabilistic Safety Assessment and Management Conference (ESREL2020 PSAM15).

Revanur, V., wt al. (2020). Embeddings Based Parallel Stacked Autoencoder Approach for Dimensionality Reduction and Predictive Maintenance of Vehicles. In IoT Streams for Data-Driven Predictive Maintenance and IoT, Edge, and Mobile for Embedded Machine Learning (pp. 127-141).

Soliman, A., et al. (2020). Decentralized and Adaptive K-Means Clustering for Non-IID Data using Hyper-LogLog Counters. In Advances in Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining : 24th Pacific-Asia Conference, PAKDD 2020, Singapore, May 11-14, 2020, Proc., Part I (Vol. 12084, pp. 343–355).

Tkauc, N., et al. (2020). Cloud-Based Face and Speech Recognition for Access Control Applications. 6th International Workshop on Security and Privacy in the Cloud (SPC 2020), in conjunction with the 8th IEEE Conf Communications and Network Security (CNS 2020), Avignon, June 29-30, 2020.

2019

Ashfaq, A., & Nowaczyk, S. (2019). Machine learning in healthcare--a system's perspective. Proceedings of the ACM SIGKDD Workshop on Epidemiology meets Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery (epiDAMIK), 2019, 14 - 17

Bocharova, I., et al. (2019). Modeling packet losses in communication networks. In 2019 IEEE Int Symp Information Theory (ISIT), 1012-1016.

Calikus, E., et al. (2019). Interactive-COSM;O: Consensus self-organized models for fault detection with expert feedback. Proc. Workshop on Interactive Data Mining (pp. 1-9).

Chen, K., et al. (2019). Predicting air compressor failures using long short term memory networks. EPIA Conference on Artificial Intelligence, 596-609

David, J., et al. (2019). Design and Development of a Said, A., et al. (2019). IDM-WSDM 2019: Workshop on Hexacopter for the Search and Rescue of a Lost Drone. Interactive Data Mining. In Proceedings of the Twelfth IROS 2019-Workshop on Challenges in Vision-based ACM International Conference on Web Search and Data Drones Navigation, Macau, China, November 8, 2019. Mining (pp. 846-847).

Galozy, A., Nowaczyk, S., & Sant'Anna, A. (2019). To-Englund, C., Torstensson, M., & Duran, B. (2019). Uswards Understanding ICU Treatments Using Patient ing Recurrent Neural Networks for Action and Intention Health Trajectories. Artificial Intelligence in Medicine: Recognition of Car Drivers. 8th International Conference Knowledge Representation and Transparent and Explainaon Pattern Recognition Applications and Methods (pp. ble Systems(pp. 67-81). 232-242).

Heikkilä, M., et al. (2019). Differentially Private Markov Chain Monte Carlo. Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems (pp. 4115-4125).

Hernandez-Diaz, K., Alonso-Fernandez, F., & Bigun, J. (2019). Cross spectral periocular matching using resnet features. 12th IAPR International Conference on Biometrics, Crete, Greece, June 4-7, 2019.

Holst, A., et al. (2019). Eliciting structure in data. In 2019 Joint ACM IUI Workshops, ACMIUI-WS 2019, 20 March 2019 (Vol. 2327). CEUR-WS.

Holst, A., et al. (2019). Interactive clustering for exploring Aramrattana, M., et al. (2018), Evaluating Model Mismultiple data streams at different time scales and granumatch Impacting CACC Controllers in Mixed Traffic uslarity. Proceedings of the Workshop on Interactive Data ing a Driving Simulator. Intelligent Vehicles. Mining (pp. 1-7).

Holst, A., Pashami, S., & Bae, J. (2019, February). Incremental causal discovery and visualization. In Proceedings of the Workshop on Interactive Data Mining (pp. 1-6).

Khoshkangini, R., Pashami, S., & Nowaczyk, S. (2019). Warranty Claim Rate Prediction Using Logged Vehicle Data. EPIA Conference on Artificial Intelligence (pp. 663-674).

Khoshkangini, R., Pini, M. S., & Rossi, F. (2019). Constructing CP-Nets from Users Past Selection. In Australasian Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence (pp. 130-142).

Najmeh, A., & Ohlsson, M. (2019). Variational auto-encoders with Student's t-prior. 27th European Symposium on Artificial Neural Networks, Computational Intelligence and Machine Learning (ESANN 2019), Bruges, Belgium, April 24-26, 2019 (pp. 415-420).

Pirasteh, P., et al. (2019). Interactive feature extraction for diagnostic trouble codes in predictive maintenance: A case study from automotive domain. Workshop on Interactive Data Mining (pp. 1-10).

Ribeiro, E., Uhl, A., & Alonso-Fernandez, F. (2019). Super-Resolution and Image Re-projection for Iris Recognition. In 2019 IEEE 5th International Conference on Identity, Security, and Behavior Analysis (ISBA) (pp. 1-7).

Cooney, M., et al. (2019). Avoiding improper treatment of dementia patients by care robots. In The Dark Side of Human-Robot Interaction: Ethical Considerations and Community Guidelines for the Field of HRI. HRI Workshop, Daegu, South Korea, March 11, 2019.

2018

Alonso-Fernandez, F., Bigun, J., & Englund, C. (2018). Expression Recognition Using the Periocular Region: A Feasibility Study. 2018 14th International Conference on Signal-Image Technology & Internet-Based Systems (SI-TIS) (pp. 536-541).

Henriksson, J., Borg, M., Englund, C. (2018), Automotive safety and machine learning: Initial results from a study on how to adapt the ISO 26262 safety standard. In: SEFAIAS.

Holst, A., et al. (2018). An Invariant Bayesian Conditional Independent Test for more Sensitive Causal Discovery, Causal-ML Workshop at IJCAI2018, Stockholm, Sweden, July 15, 2018.

Pashami, S., et al. (2018). Causal discovery using clusters from observational data, Causal-ML Workshop at IJCAI 2018, Stockholm, Sweden, July 15, 2018.

Varytimidis, D., et al. (2018). Action and intention recognition of pedestrians in urban traffic. 2018 14th International Conference on Signal-Image Technology & amp; Internet-Based Systems (SITIS).

Menezes, M.L.R., et al. (2018). Affective Ambient Intelligence: from Domotics to Ambient Intelligence. In A2IC 2018: Artificial Intelligence International Conference: Book of Abstract (pp. 25–25).

Alonso-Fernandez, F., Bigun, J., & Englund, C. (2018). Expression Recognition Using the Periocular Region: A Feasibility Study. The 14th International Conference on Signal Image Technology & Internet Based Systems, SITIS 2018, Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Spain, 26-29 November, 2018.

Femling, F., Olsson, A., & Alonso-Fernandez, F. (2018). Fruit and Vegetable Identification Using Machine Learning for Retail Application. 14th International Conference on Signal Image Technology & Internet based Systems, Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Spain, 26-29 November, 2018.

Menezes, M.L.R., Pinheiro Sant'Anna, A., & Alonso-Fernandez, F. (2018). Methodology for Subject Authentification and Identification through EEG signal: equipment's and positioning artifacts. A2IC 2018: Artificial Intelligence International Conference: Book of Abstract (pp. 37-37).

Nowaczyk, S., et al. (2018). Monitoring equipment operation through model and event discovery. Intelligent Data Engineering and Automated Learning - IDEAL 2018: 19th International Conference, Madrid, Spain, November 21-23, 2018, Proceedings, Part II (Vol. 11315, pp. 41–53).

Vaiciukynas, E., et al. (2018). Parkinson's Disease Detec- Derendarz, W.W, et al. (2018). Method for the automated tion from Speech Using Convolutional Neural Networks. Smart objects and technologies for social good: Third International Conference, GOODTECHS 2017, Pisa, Italy, November 29-30, 2017, Proceedings (Vol. 233, pp. 206-215).

Hernandez-Diaz, K., Alonso-Fernandez, F., & Bigun, J. (2018). Periocular Recognition Using CNN Features Offthe-Shelf. The International Conference of the Biometrics Special Interest Group (BIOSIG), Darmstadt, Germany, Sept. 26-29, 2018.

Cooney, M., et al. (2018). Pitfalls of Affective Computing: How can the automatic visual communication of emotions lead to harm, and what can be done to mitigate such risks? In WWW '18 Companion Proceedings of the Web Conference 2018 (pp. 1563-1566).

Ali Hamad, R., Järpe, E., & Lundström, J. (2018). Stability analysis of the t-SNE algorithm for human activity pattern data. The 2018 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics (SMC2018), Miyazaki, Japan, Oct. 7-10, 2018.

Cooney, M., et al. (2018). Teaching Robotics with Robot Operating System (ROS): A Behavior Model Perspective. The Workshop on 'Teaching Robotics with ROS', European Robotics Forum 2018, Tampere, Finland, March 15, 2018.

OTHER CONFERENCE PAPERS

Chen, L., Englund, C. (2018), Future autonomous airports: a system-of-systems approach. Proceedings of the Third Swedish Workshop on the Engineering of Systems-of-Systems (SWESoS2018), Linköping, Sweden, RISE, pp. 11–13

BOOK CHAPTERS

Fanaee Tork, H., Bouguelia, M.-R., & Rahat, M. (2020). CycleFootprint: A Fully Automated Method for Extracting Operation Cycles from Historical Raw Data of Multiple Sensors. In IoT Streams for Data-Driven Predictive Maintenance and IoT, Edge, and Mobile for Embedded Machine Learning: 2nd Int Workshop, IoT Streams 2020, and 1st Int Workshop, ITEM 2020, Co-located with ECML/PKDD 2020, Ghent, September 14-18, 2020, Revised Selected Papers.

Nowaczyk, S., et al. (2020). Towards Autonomous Knowledge Creation from Big Data in Smart Cities. In Handbook of Smart Cities (pp. 1–35). Cham: Springer.

Alonso-Fernandez, F., et al. (2019). Super-resolution for selfie biometrics: Introduction and application to face and iris. In Selfie Biometrics (pp. 105-128). Springer, Cham.

PATENTS 2012-2022

driving of a vehicle, in particular of a motor vehicle, in order to approach a parking position. US Patent Application 2018/0281859 A1 (priority date 2015 in Germany - partly a result of Peter Mühlfellner's work as industrial PhD student at VW 2012-2015)

Derendarz, W.W., et al. (2018) Method and Device for Carrying Out an Automatic Drive of a Vehicle. US Patent Application 2018/0265130 A1 (priority date 2015 in Germany - partly a result of Peter Mühlfellner's work as industrial PhD student at VW 2012-2015)

Karlsson, N., et al. (2018). Method for monitoring the operation of a sensor. US Patent 10,109,118 B2

PhD theses 2012-2022

Ashfaq, A. (2022). Deep Evidential Doctor

Calikus, E. (2022). Together We Learn More : Algorithms and Applications for User-Centric Anomaly Detection

Del Moral Pastor, P. J. (2022). Hierarchical Methods for Self-Monitoring Systems : Theory and Application

Farouq, S. (2022). Towards conformal methods for largescale monitoring of district heating substations

Fan, Y. (2020). Wisdom of the Crowd for Fault Detection and Prognosis

Mashad Nemati, H. (2019). Data Analytics for Weak Spot Detection in Power Distribution Grids.

Khandelwal, S. (2018). Gait Event Detection in the Real World.

Gholami Shahbandi, S. (2018). Interpretation and Alignment of 2D Indoor Maps: Towards a Heterogeneous Map Representation.

Mühlfellner, P. (2015). Lifelong visual localization for automated vehicles.

Mikaelyan, A. (2015). Compact orientation and frequency estimation with applications in biometrics: Biometrics on the orientation express.

Ourique de Morais, W. (2015). Architecting Smart Home Environments for Healthcare: A Database-Centric Approach.

Lundström, J. (2014). Situation Awareness in Colour Printing and Beyond.

Sant'Anna, A. (2012). A Symbolic Approach to Human Motion Analysis Using Inertial Sensors: Framework and Gait Analysis Study.

Licentiate theses 2012-2022

Ali Hamad, R. (2022). Towards Reliable, Stable and Fast Learning for Smart Home Activity Recognition.

Taghiyarrenani, Z. (2022). Learning from Multiple Domains.

Chen, K. (2022). Learning Representations for Machine Activity Recognition.

Galozy, A. (2021). Data-driven personalized healthcare : Towards personalized interventions via reinforcement learning for Mobile Health.

Calikus, E. (2020). Self-Monitoring using Joint Human-Machine Learning : Algorithms and Applications.

- Farouq, S. (2019). Towards large-scale monitoring of operationally diverse thermal energy systems with data-driven techniques.
- Ashfaq, A. (2019). Using AI to Individualise Care for Heart Patients in Halland.
- Mashad Nemati, H. (2017). Data-Driven Methods for Reliability Evaluation of Power Cables in Smart Distribution Grids.
- Carpatorea, I. (2017). Methods to quantify and qualify truck driver performance.
- Fan, Y. (2016). A Self-Organized Fault Detection Method for Vehicle Fleets.
- Gholami Shahbandi, S. (2016). Semantic Mapping in Warehouses.
- Hedenberg, K. (2014). Obstacle Detection for Driverless Trucks in Industrial Environments.
- Prytz, R. (2014). Machine learning methods for vehicle predictive maintenance using off-board and on-board data.
- Lundström, J. (2012). Understanding Offset Print Quality: A Computational Intelligence-based Approach. Studies from the School of Science and Technology 26, Örebro University.

Thanks to Our main funders: The Knowledge Foundation **VINNOVA**

Knowledge Foundation

The Knowledge Foundation funds research and competence development at Sweden's new universities. The Foundation was established by the Swedish government in 1994, and the Foundation's overall mission is to strengthen Sweden's competitiveness.

The Knowledge Foundation has the following objectives:

- to support the exchange of knowledge and skills between the business sector on one hand, and universities, higher education institutions (HEIs), and research institutes on the other.
- to fund research at smaller and midsized HEIs and Sweden's new universities (founded after the foundation was formed) in special profile areas.
- to promote information technology.

The Knowledge Foundation achieves these objectives by helping young universities build internationally competitive research environments, work long-term on strategic profiling and increase the cooperation between academia, industry and institutes. The Foundation funding programs are all characterized by a long-term perspective and requirements for co-production with industrial partners.

Sweden's Innovation Agency

Vinnova is Sweden's innovation agency. Vinnova is a government agency under the Ministry of Trade and Industry and the national liaison authority for the EU Framework Program for Research and Innovation.

Vinnova's task is to promote sustainable growth by financing needs-motivated research and the development of effective innovation systems. "Innovation systems" refer to networks of public and private actors where innovations and new knowledge are developed, disseminated, and used. In order to achieve sustainable growth and strengthen Sweden's competitiveness, the authority must, from a challenge-driven perspective, work for the utilization of research and the promotion of innovation.

Every year, Vinnova invests approximately SEK 3 billion in research and innovation. This is done in many forms, typically cooperative projects between partners with complementing competencies. For CAISR one particularly important funding program is FFI, the Vehicle Strategic Research and Innovation program, which is a collaboration between the government (Vinnova, the Swedish Transport Administration and the Swedish Energy Agency) and the Swedish automotive industry (Scania CV AB, AB Volvo, Volvo Car Group and FKG - Vehicle Component Group).

Affecto Sweden Al Sweden Alfa Laval **AstraZeneca** Berge **Bristol Myers Squibb** Cambio Capio CetaSol CGI **DevoTeam** EasyServ Sweden Ensolution European DLB Consortium Getinge Hallandia V Halmstad municipality HEM - Halmstad Energi och Miljö High Five **HMS Industrial Networks** HotSwap Norden Intersystems Karolinska Institute Linköping University Hospital Lund University Mölnlycke Healthcare Novo Nordisk Novartis Pfizer Polestar **Region Halland**

Thanks to our Partners:

Region Skåne Repli5 **RISE** (Research Institutes of Sweden) SKR (Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions) SmartEye (smarteye.se) Solita Stratio Sydpumpen Takeda Toyota Material Handling Europe Viscando Visiba Care Volvo Bus Corporation Volvo Cars **Volvo Group Connected Solutions** Volvo Group Trucks Technology **Volvo Trucks** VTI **WirelessCar** Zenseact Öresundskraft

CAISR

CAISR, the Center for Applied Intelligent Systems Research, is a long-term research program on intelligent systems established by Halmstad University. The program is funded by the University and the Knowledge Foundation with support from Swedish Industry.

The subject expertize in the center is in signal analysis, machine learning and mechatronics. Several industrial partners are collaborating with researchers from the University in joint projects, and take an active part in the development of CAISR. The key application areas that the center does research in are intelligent vehicles and health technology. The industrial partners include multinational companies as well as research-based growing companies.

The mission of CAISR is to serve and promote the development of industry and society. It is a center for industrially motivated research on the future technologies for and application opportunities with aware intelligent systems. CAISR will serve as a partner for industry's own research and development, as a recruitment base for those who seek staff with state-of-the-art knowledge in intelligent systems technologies, and as a competence resource for industry and society. All research is conducted within different research projects.



Visiting Address: Kristian IV:s väg 3 P O Box 823, SE 301 18 Halmstad Telephone: +46 35 1671 00 E-mail: registrator@hh.se www.hh.se